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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome,

          3  everyone, to this hearing of the Public Safety

          4  Committee. Today we'll discuss gang activity,

          5  recruitment and violence in New York City, and the

          6  NYPD's ongoing efforts to combat these problems.

          7                 Locally there have been a number of

          8  high profile gang-related incidents since the

          9  beginning of this year.

         10                 This past Monday, September 25th, in

         11  Far Rockaway, a 16-year-old boy was fatally shot in

         12  the head when a group of teenagers later confronted

         13  him after an argument earlier that day. Minutes

         14  after the shooting, two men ages 19 and 20 were

         15  stabbed nearby.

         16                 Friday, September 8th, a 19-year-old

         17  man suffered a fatal gunshot in front of a housing

         18  complex in the South Bronx after arguing with three

         19  suspected members of the Young Gunner Street Gang at

         20  a fastfood restaurant a few days prior. The

         21  suspected gang members, they cut in front of the

         22  victim in line, and when the victim tried to stop

         23  them, a fight ensued.

         24                 Friday, September 1st, a 15-year-old

         25  boy was stabbed three times in the back by a group
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          2  of three teens aboard a Brooklyn subway train. Each

          3  of the teens wore a white shirt with black stripes

          4  and red durag, and surrounded the victim and started

          5  an argument. The three teens, ages 13, 14 and 16,

          6  were all charged with assault and belonged to a gang

          7  called S42.

          8                 On Tuesday, July 4th, 14-year-old boy

          9  from Belmont hospitalized after riding his bike

         10  through the territory of the Locos Gang. He was

         11  stabbed twice in the side and the chest. And Friday,

         12  January 20th, a violent clash erupted between the

         13  members of the Crips and the Latin Kings outside of

         14  Hillcrest High School. One of the three male victims

         15  was slashed, one was punched, kicked, three 15 year

         16  olds, two 17 year olds were arrested and on New

         17  Years Day in my district in Astoria, two armed gangs

         18  exchanged gunfire outside of the AQ Juice Bar, left

         19  two men dead.

         20                 It's important to recognize that many

         21  of these incidents involves young teens who become

         22  the victims of senseless violence spurred by petty

         23  arguments. As was emphasized in the press this past

         24  summer, gang recruitment in junior high schools and

         25  even in younger grades is on the rise. This is a
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          2  problem that needs to be addressed because young

          3  teens are particularly susceptible to peer pressure,

          4  and joining a gang at age 13 can alter a child's

          5  life, for the worst, obviously.

          6                 NYPD has made great strides in

          7  thwarting this dangerous gang activity. Two weeks

          8  ago after an eight-month undercover investigation of

          9  a crew tied to the Crips Street Gang, the Traffic

         10  Narcotics in Rockaway, Queens, 96 people were

         11  charged and 81 arrested. The investigation revealed

         12  that the dealers sometimes did transactions on

         13  school playgrounds, distributed drugs concealed in

         14  toys and once used a child to deliver drugs to an

         15  undercover officer.

         16                 Earlier this year in similar large

         17  scale gang-related drug busts at the Redfern Houses

         18  in Dix McBridge Apartment Houses in Far Rockaway and

         19  South Jamaica and Baisely Park Houses in Queens were

         20  announced by NYPD and the Queens DA.

         21                 While New York City continues to be

         22  the safest big City in the nation, as a result of

         23  the NYPD, but given the attention surrounding gang

         24  violence as of late, and given the fact that most

         25  recent crime statistics show that despite the fact
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          2  that crime nationwide -- well, mostly here in New

          3  York City, nationwide it's kind of changed, but

          4  crime in New York City has been going down steadily

          5  year-after-year, all crime, violent felonies

          6  committed by youths are going up. So, that is

          7  obviously a concern and that is what motivated this

          8  hearing today.

          9                 We're happy to have with us my fellow

         10  Council Member Addabbo, Helen Sears, Dan Garodnick,

         11  Melinda Katz, Jimmy Oddo and Erik Dilan. Thank you

         12  for being here.

         13                 Our first witness today will be

         14  Deputy Chief Tom Galati, and he's accompanied,

         15  obviously, by the everpresent Sue Petito, and a name

         16  tag I can't read from here.

         17                 Chief Galati, the floor is yours.

         18                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Good morning,

         19  Mr. Chairman, and members of the Committee. I am

         20  Deputy Chief Thomas Galati, the Commanding Officer

         21  of the New York City Police Department Detective

         22  Bureau Gang Division.

         23                 On behalf of Police Commissioner

         24  Raymond Kelly, I am pleased to be here today and

         25  provide you with an overview of the Gang Division,
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          2  whose mission is the reduction of violence

          3  attributed to street gangs in the development of

          4  lines of communication that allow for the free flow

          5  of vital gang-related information.

          6                 Street gangs have been around for

          7  centuries. In the past, most gang activity was

          8  limited to delinquent behavior in neighborhood

          9  clicks. Today, however, gangs often engage in

         10  narcotics, weapons, robberies and other serious

         11  violent crimes.

         12                 The NYPD has many programs to

         13  accurately gather information on gang members and

         14  the crimes they commit. Since the Police Department

         15  testified on this topic three years ago, many new

         16  lines of communication have been developed and have

         17  enabled the gang division to aggressively and

         18  accurately identify current gang members. These new

         19  lines of communication have enabled the gang

         20  division to interact with members of the community

         21  and to educate them in the identification of gangs

         22  in their culture.

         23                 The Gang Division makes presentations

         24  to a variety of government and community

         25  representatives, including the New York City
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          2  Department of Education, parent teacher

          3  associations, clergy, precinct community councils,

          4  public officials and NYPD personnel assigned outside

          5  the gang division.

          6                 These efforts are aimed at educating

          7  the community and enlisting the help of early

          8  identification and prevention of new gang

          9  membership.

         10                 By informing our communities about

         11  the early warning signs of gang membership, such as

         12  hand signals, clothing, and language, it has allowed

         13  for more accurate reporting of gang-motivated

         14  crimes, enabling us to better, more quickly respond

         15  and arrest perpetrators.

         16                 Overall, there were 170 presentations

         17  held in 2004, 187 held in 2005, and 153 year-to-date

         18  in 2006. The continued updating of our database

         19  allows for the NYPD to rapidly identify, record and

         20  analyze information on gangs.

         21                 Armed with this data, the Gang

         22  Division is able to effectively deploy many

         23  resources to hot spots and area that may have

         24  potential for criminal gang activity, often before

         25  these incidents occur.
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          2                 Our state-of-the-art real time crime

          3  center conducts rapid analysis of homicides and

          4  shootings Citywide, in order to provide a real time

          5  assessment of crimes which may or may not be gang

          6  motivated.

          7                 The real time crime center has

          8  produced measurable results in solving homicides. In

          9  one of those cases, two members of a violent street

         10  gang shot a 19 year old to death on the Grand

         11  Concourse in the Bronx.

         12                 Within an hour, detectives and

         13  analysts in the real time crime center sifted

         14  through thousands of police and public records and

         15  identified the address of one of those suspects, a

         16  parolee with a history of violent crimes.

         17                 The detectives quickly located the

         18  apartment and arrested the subject. His accomplice

         19  was found and apprehended five days later.

         20                 Locally each borough has a gang squad

         21  that is staffed with uniformed police officers,

         22  plainclothes detective investigators who work

         23  hand-in-hand to suppress street gang violence and

         24  dismantle the underlying criminal enterprises that

         25  support gang activity.
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          2                 On a daily basis these uniformed

          3  officers respond to incidents and address locations

          4  known to be frequented by gang members. These

          5  include public transportation routes, licensed

          6  premises, catering facilities, and areas surrounding

          7  schools and parks.

          8                 The detective investigators are

          9  responsible to conduct vigorous focus

         10  investigations, often developing intelligence on the

         11  structure of the gangs with the goal of permanently

         12  dismantling their criminal organization.

         13                 The Gang Division's efforts are

         14  complimented by the operational units within the

         15  NYPD. These units include the Community Affairs

         16  Bureau, the Detective Bureau, the Housing and

         17  Transit Bureaus, School Safety Division,

         18  Intelligence Division, Narcotics Division, and our

         19  eyes and ears in the street, the Patrol Services

         20  Bureau.

         21                 Outside the Department the Gang

         22  Division has forged many partnerships. New York City

         23  Department of Correction has been with us since its

         24  inception. This relationship has allowed for a

         25  seemless flow of information in tracking gang
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          2  members when they are arrested on the streets, enter

          3  into the correctional facility during their

          4  incarceration, upon their release.

          5                 This process has had a dramatic

          6  effect on gang-motivated crime and recruitment of

          7  gang members, both in correctional facilities and on

          8  the streets of our City.

          9                 Another strong relationship has been

         10  formed with all the District Attorneys' Offices who

         11  have assigned specific Gang Bureau Chiefs to flag

         12  cases that involve gang crime and gang crime

         13  members, allowing their officers to aggressively

         14  prosecute these individuals.

         15                 The Gang Division has been in the

         16  forefront of developing strategies to combat gang

         17  violence. Serving as a model for many other law

         18  enforcement agencies nationwide, the Gang Division

         19  continually is reviewing its procedures in

         20  developing faster and more robust mechanisms to

         21  identify suspected gang members, creating a

         22  partnership outside with outside agencies, such as

         23  Nassau and Suffolk County Police Departments,

         24  various District Attorneys, federal prosecutors, the

         25  Department of Probation and Parole and other law
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          2  enforcement entities have allowed the Department to

          3  gain critical information that has assisted in the

          4  apprehension of many gang members.

          5                 A prime example is the relationship

          6  created with the Mexican Consul General regarding

          7  Mexican Gangs, which enabled us to exchange valuable

          8  information and encourage individuals who were once

          9  fearful to report gang-related incidents.

         10                 The Department continues to develop

         11  innovative strategies directed at further reducing

         12  gang crime, as well as overall crime.

         13                 We believe we must remain focused and

         14  committed in order to ensure the progress of our

         15  efforts.

         16                 With ongoing efforts to enhance lines

         17  of communication with other agencies, locally and

         18  nationwide, as well as educating the community, we

         19  can continue in our success.

         20                 Finally, we would like to take this

         21  opportunity to thank you, Chairman Vallone, for your

         22  sustained interest in the problem of gang

         23  recruitment, and for your proposed legislation which

         24  would make it a crime to engage in gang recruitment.

         25                 This year we had legislation
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          2  introduced in Albany that addressed gang

          3  recruitment, as well as other gang activities,

          4  including marking turf.

          5                 Although the State Senate approved

          6  our bill, the session ended without action by the

          7  Assembly. We would welcome the opportunity to

          8  discuss our proposal with you, so that we can

          9  develop local legislation that would provide us with

         10  additional tools to combat gang activity in New York

         11  City.

         12                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         13  address this important issue and we'd be pleased to

         14  answer any questions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         16  Chief.

         17                 First let me again welcome you and

         18  say that we're very pleased to have you here and

         19  I've heard many good things about your work and you

         20  personally from people I respect in the Police

         21  Department. So, welcome to this hearing.

         22                 You ended up with an interesting

         23  point about Albany. You said we had legislation

         24  introduced in Albany. What was your part in that

         25  legislation?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: I'll let Sue

          3  answer.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sure.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: As

          6  part of our legislative agenda for 2006, we asked

          7  the Legislature to pass a bill which would make it

          8  an A misdemeanor to engage in criminal street gang

          9  activity. And the bill was drafted by the Law

         10  Department, with our participation and unfortunately

         11  it was not passed by the Assembly but it did pass

         12  the Senate, and it's similar I believe to your local

         13  bill, but there is an opportunity we think to

         14  perhaps talk about maybe amending the local bill in

         15  some ways to mimic -- because we did see some

         16  success. After all, the Senate did pass it. So, we

         17  would welcome the opportunity to talk about that

         18  with you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, because

         20  we, as you know, we have a similar bill here that

         21  I've introduced that we will be moving forward with

         22  again, and this is the first in a hearing of many

         23  hearings regarding this topic.

         24                 And we also have a resolution

         25  supporting that legislation up in Albany that we
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          2  will move forward on to give you all the support

          3  that we can to get that passed up in Albany.

          4                 Inspector, it's been three years

          5  since our last gang hearing. It doesn't seem that

          6  long. People say why are you having another gang

          7  hearing, people don't realize it's been a full three

          8  years since the last one.

          9                 What type trends do you see

         10  now-a-days in gang activity? What type crimes are

         11  they committing that they may not have in the past?

         12  What type areas are they moving into? Just an

         13  overview of what you're seeing now recently of gangs

         14  in New York City?

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Okay, overall,

         16  you know, we have seen a slight increase in gang

         17  activity within the City, especially in certain

         18  areas of the City where we had, you know, some

         19  influx of new immigrants into the area. An area of

         20  concern would probably be out in Queens towards the

         21  110 and 115 Precinct. That has a high population of

         22  South and Central American residents, and based on

         23  that we've seen an increase of South and Central

         24  American Mexican type of gangs. These gangs are

         25  mostly gangs that aren't necessarily involved in
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          2  criminal activity, other than the pride from where

          3  they come from and their, you know, affiliation from

          4  their home and their affiliation to their gang here.

          5                 Most of their crimes are really

          6  associated with just violence amongst themselves,

          7  not necessarily amongst the public themselves. We

          8  don't really find them, although I couldn't say it

          9  as a general that they're not, but they're not

         10  necessarily involved in the drug trade.

         11                 Recently we did conduct an

         12  investigation in that area where they were, one

         13  organized gang, Vatos Locos that was involved in

         14  selling forged documents. That was a long-term case

         15  that was conducted by the Gang Division, along with

         16  The Queens District Attorneys' Office where we were

         17  able to dismantle this gang, and arrested numerous

         18  people on it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Keep going.

         20  Actually, I'd rather hear more from you than hear me

         21  speak. Give us more of an overview now to what's

         22  happening.

         23                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: You know, the

         24  Gang Division has been conducting long-term cases to

         25  try and dismantle many gangs. Since we started, or
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          2  rather since we were here last in 2006, we conducted

          3  47 long-term cases to gangs. Of those 47 long-term

          4  cases, we dismantled many of those gangs, and a lot

          5  of those cases have gone, not only at the State

          6  level, but federally. So, I think that would really

          7  infiltrate a lot of the gangs in dismantling them.

          8                 One of the cases that you just spoke

          9  of earlier was something that occurred in the Ocean

         10  Bay Village Housing Development out in the

         11  Rockaways. That was a case where gang members

         12  basically had taken over, you know, control of the

         13  drug trade within Ocean Bay which was formerly

         14  Edgemere.

         15                 That investigation was about a

         16  seven-month investigation and 21 of these gang

         17  members were arrested.

         18                 That was the case and what we are

         19  trying to do, some of our newest strategies are to

         20  work with many other units within the Department and

         21  outside the Department. That was a joint operation

         22  we did with the Narcotics Division. We were able to

         23  effectively dismantle the gang and the supply of

         24  drugs, and at the same time also arrest many other

         25  members, not members of the gang but other people
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          2  that were buying drugs in that area. So, we're

          3  trying to take a two-pronged approach and we are

          4  addressing these gangs. Not only disrupt the gang

          5  and the supply, but actually the buyers as well.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You know, we

          7  here at the Council applaud your efforts, and we

          8  know you're working shorthanded, but to what do you

          9  attribute the rise in crime, in youth crime,

         10  especially in violent crime? Despite the fact that

         11  crime in this City has been going down for two years

         12  now.

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Well, if I speak

         14  about gap in crime specifically, not necessarily

         15  just youth crime, but gang crime in general, when we

         16  measure gang crime, we measure gang-motivated crime.

         17  Motivated crime, just to give you an idea of what

         18  I'm speaking of, it's a crime that is done by a gang

         19  member to benefit or further the interest of the

         20  gang. It's let's say an initiation or a right or an

         21  allegiance or a support of that gang. And it's also

         22  a conflict between gang members.

         23                 Just to give me an idea of

         24  gang-motivated crime, okay? Index crime, which is

         25  the National Unified Crime Reporting, or the FBI
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          2  standard of reporting crime, there was 211

          3  gang-motivated crimes in the City of New York

          4  year-to-date.

          5                 Now, to give you an idea of how many

          6  motivated crimes that is, roughly 90,000 index

          7  crimes in the City year-to-date, that actually

          8  accounts for gang motivated crime, is less than

          9  one-quarter of one percent of overall gang crime.

         10  So, although I do see a slight increase in

         11  gang-motivated crime, it really accounts for a very

         12  small portion of overall crime in the City.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Is it 211 this

         14  year, how many last year?

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: 170. So, there

         16  was an increase of 41 gang-motivated crimes from the

         17  same period last year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The same period,

         19  or was that for the entire year and this is only for

         20  a portion of a year, and we have that much of an

         21  increase?

         22                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Yes, that would

         23  be year-to-date 2006, from year-to-date 2005, the

         24  same period.

         25                 The increase, I believe, has
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          2  accounted for one of the new strategies that we are

          3  doing in the Gang Division.

          4                 When I took over the Gang Division a

          5  little less than two years ago, one of the things

          6  that we wanted to do is try and identify as many

          7  gang members as possible.

          8                 In order to effectively combat gang

          9  crime, infiltrate the gangs and do long-term cases,

         10  we need to first identify gang members. So, our goal

         11  was to try and increase our gang membership, you

         12  know, to try and increase identification of gang

         13  membership. And as a result of that, we've been

         14  increasing people, we've been identifying more

         15  people that are actual gang members.

         16                 In the process of identifying them,

         17  they've given us a better understanding of gang

         18  crime. A lot of times a crime is occurring, and

         19  we're responding quickly. We have education going on

         20  where we've educated other people within the NYPD,

         21  Precinct Commanders, Detective Squads, our newly

         22  graduated recruits in the Policy Academy, they all

         23  get extensive training on gangs now. So, we're

         24  getting called out now more and we're identifying

         25  more gang crime. So, I don't necessarily see the
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          2  increase because there's an increase in gang crime,

          3  I think we're more better reporting and recording

          4  gang crime as a whole.

          5                 So, I think our efforts are

          6  increasing the number of gang crimes, but, again, I

          7  think that this is because we're reporting it better

          8  than we were in the past.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We've been

         10  joined by some other Council members. Council Member

         11  Helen Foster is here, and Council Member Hiram

         12  Monserrate joined us, and he represents the area

         13  that you just spoke about, along with Helen Sears,

         14  who was here, and also Council Member Gallagher just

         15  joined us here.

         16                 We've also been joined by some NYU

         17  students, I believe, who are up in the balcony, who

         18  are part of a public policy program in government.

         19                 First of all, we're welcoming you

         20  here to our Chambers. This is where government

         21  happens here in the greatest City of the world. The

         22  Police Department is testifying today about gang

         23  activity, and up here are Council members who ask

         24  questions on behalf of the people, and this is a

         25  general oversight hearing. Sometimes it's about a
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          2  law we proposed, sometimes it's just about general

          3  oversight over the City agencies.

          4                 So, I'm told you guys are working on

          5  public policy, so this is a great place for you to

          6  be. Welcome.

          7                 I'm going to have to ask, though,

          8  that there's no talking while this is going on,

          9  okay? Because we can't hear you down here. But feel

         10  free to come up and ask us any questions you want

         11  later on.

         12                 Do you have any questions you want to

         13  ask right now, of the Police Department? Anybody?

         14  Well, if you do. Send a note on down.

         15                 Yes?

         16                 (Not using microphone.)

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Oh, no problem.

         18  Whisper for now on inside here, okay? Welcome.

         19                 Okay, let me go to some other Council

         20  members before I finish my questions. Council Member

         21  Oddo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 Mr. Chairman, I would ask your

         25  indulgence, if I might, to before I ask a question,
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          2  to kind of set up a question a little bit, it might

          3  take a little bit longer than normal. I'll try to

          4  get it as quickly as possible.

          5                 I understand this is a hearing about

          6  gang violence specifically and not juvenile violence

          7  in general, nor the specific issue of curfew, but I

          8  can't help but see the connection between and

          9  amongst the three.

         10                 Almost ten years ago to the date,

         11  October 18th, 1996, this Council held a hearing on a

         12  bill introduced by Council Member Ognibene, and

         13  there was a gentleman who testified that a professor

         14  from University of South Carolina, William Ruffle,

         15  College of Criminal Justice, University of South

         16  Carolina, and ten years ago he talked about the

         17  imperative of demographics, and that in 1996, we

         18  were at a low point number of juveniles in the

         19  country over the next 15 to 20 years we were going

         20  to see a 25 percent increase in the number of

         21  juveniles across the United States. And he saw lots

         22  of implications in that number for cities

         23  particularly across the country.

         24                 There were three individuals who

         25  testified at that hearing, one was the Director of
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          2  the Anti-Gang Division at the Mayor's Office in

          3  Houston, Texas, a woman by the name of Kim Ogg

          4  (phonetic). Another one was an area commander,

          5  Captain Bruce Haggerty, from East Los Angeles in the

          6  Holland Back District (phonetic) who talked

          7  specifically about gang violence. And the final

          8  gentleman who testified was the Chief of Police in

          9  North Littlerock, Arkansas, a Bill Nolan, who

         10  testified very specifically and very pointedly about

         11  gang violence in his community.

         12                 And if I could just read very

         13  quickly, he talked about that when he arrived in

         14  North Littlerock in 1990, there were signs of gang

         15  violence all over the City, spread out from Los

         16  Angeles, the Bloods and the Crips, and they had been

         17  spreading the crack, cocaine, across the country at

         18  the time, and they had come into the area in

         19  organized gangs to facilitate the sale of crack,

         20  cocaine, and he talked about particularly in the

         21  housing projects, how mothers had to put their

         22  children in bathtubs at night for fear of the stray

         23  bullets.

         24                 All three of those witnesses went on

         25  to testify about the efficacy of juvenile curfews in
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          2  combatting gang violence.

          3                 It wasn't the only tool in the tool

          4  box, but they felt it was a very important tool in

          5  the toolbox.

          6                 The National League of Cities just

          7  came out with another survey in January of this

          8  year, and they asked cities across the country that

          9  had youth curfews, they asked them about the

         10  effectiveness in limiting gang violence.

         11  Thirty-three, one-third of those cities testified

         12  that juvenile curfews were very effective in

         13  limiting gang violence. Fifty-six said they were

         14  somewhat effective, only nine said they were

         15  non-effective. All of that is a lead up to my

         16  question, and that is, Chief you testified, I think

         17  you used the word "innovative strategies," and I

         18  commend you, and I commend the job the NYPD is

         19  doing, I was wondering if anywhere in the

         20  contemplation of you or the Department, the idea of

         21  implementing a pilot program for a juvenile curfew

         22  had entered into your consideration, and if it

         23  hadn't, that you would bring back the message to

         24  Commissioner Kelly, that certainly Council Member

         25  Gallagher, myself and some others in the Council
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          2  still believe in the efficacy of it. It's not only

          3  about limiting kids who would be part of the gangs,

          4  it's about limiting the kids on the street who are

          5  victims of gang. And we did a really bad job early

          6  on ten years ago in not stressing that this was not

          7  only punitive in nature, it was about juvenile

          8  victimization, and reducing juvenile victims.

          9                 So, I thank my colleagues for their

         10  indulgence on my rant, and ask you if juvenile

         11  curfews have been contemplated at all by the New

         12  York City Police Department?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: I really can't

         14  comment right now on curfews. It is something that,

         15  you know, I can suggest that it's been looked at. I

         16  don't necessarily know if the Department has or is

         17  in the process of looking at them, but that is

         18  something that I can look into.

         19                 However, when you do mention curfews,

         20  the only thing I can say, as far as curfews within

         21  my division and effective trying to combat gang

         22  crime, is we've utilized curfews not on just gang

         23  members, but people that have been convicted of a

         24  crime, gang members that are on probation or on

         25  parole.
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          2                 That is a way, another strategy we

          3  do, we work very closely with parole, we work very,

          4  very closely with probation, and if a gang member

          5  does have a curfew, you know, we'll encourage that

          6  probation does their visits after the curfew or

          7  parole. Or if we engage that individual after that

          8  curfew is up, and parole then in turn will violate

          9  them.

         10                 So, curfews work very well with

         11  people that are under restrictions from the court.

         12  As far as the other way, I wouldn't really be able

         13  to comment to that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Fair enough. The

         15  genesis of that program was Operation Nightlight in

         16  Boston that was very effective. And I think if you

         17  look across the country, and the various ways I

         18  think they're effective.

         19                 And Mr. Chairman, I just close by

         20  saying to you, if you look at today's lead section

         21  of the Metro Section of the New York Times, it talks

         22  about the increase in juvenile crime and, you know,

         23  with that comes increase in victimization of

         24  juveniles. And I know you have a busy agenda, but I

         25  would hope at some point in the future, if you can
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          2  have a hearing on curfew and the criticisms and the

          3  critiques and the concerns, as well as the potential

          4  benefits of it, I think that would be very important

          5  and timely.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          7  Council Member. As you know, I haven't taken a

          8  position on that bill that you and Gallagher are

          9  discussing about curfew, but I have committed to a

         10  hearing, as soon as you line up the experts from

         11  throughout the country that you were dealing with.

         12  So, just let us know because I think it would be a

         13  very interesting topic and at that point, the Police

         14  Department will come prepared to discuss it. So,

         15  thanks.

         16                 Chief, the Gang Unit itself, how many

         17  officers or how many members does it have now and

         18  how does that compare to last year?

         19                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Well, since the

         20  last time we were here we've had an increase of

         21  members to the Gang Division. I believe right now

         22  we're approximately 230 members, which is an

         23  increase from 2002, the last time we did testify

         24  here.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Very political
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          2  of you. Is it an increase from last year, though?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: It's been a

          4  fluctuating number. However, we just recently had

          5  some transfers. So I think that they're slightly

          6  down from the same time last year, but we have some

          7  pending transfers. So, I think that we're going to

          8  be brought back up to the same strength we were the

          9  same time last year very shortly.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And what makes

         11  one transfer? What type of training does one need to

         12  be part of the gang unit? What type of officers does

         13  your unit consist of?

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: All right, my

         15  unit is broken down into, each borough has its own

         16  gang squad, and within each gang squad, it's really

         17  broken down into suppression team and an

         18  investigative team.

         19                 Our investigative team are seasoned

         20  detectives that do long-term cases. They assist the

         21  detective squads, investigate crimes involving gang

         22  members. They, you know, assist in responses when

         23  there is an incident that occurs on the street.

         24                 Our suppression teams are uniformed

         25  members that go into areas that we've identified as
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          2  high gang-crime areas. One of their main goals is to

          3  try and, obviously if a gang member is doing

          4  something wrong, we try and arrest them, but in

          5  addition, we're also trying to identify new gang

          6  members.

          7                 Again, as I said earlier, the best

          8  way to combat gang crime is we have to first

          9  identify gang members, and then once we identify

         10  them we can track them as they go through the, you

         11  know, gang life, whether they continually get

         12  involved in crime. We track them and that helps us

         13  down the line by tracking these members, tracking

         14  who they get arrested with, the areas they are or

         15  the sect that they belong with. Gang identification

         16  for us is very, that's a very important part of our

         17  job. And that's something our suppression people do.

         18                 When we look to pick up people for

         19  the Gang Division, we usually look to precincts, we

         20  like to get precincts that have, you know, some gang

         21  issues, 'cause that brings some knowledge to us. We

         22  interview them, we look for recommendations for

         23  their commanding officers, and we try and look for a

         24  little bit seasoned officer, somebody that maybe is

         25  in a specialty unit within that precinct.
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          2                 So, that is in what is called an

          3  anti-crime unit, or somebody that is in a new team,

          4  somebody that has a little bit more focused

          5  enforcement than just a regular uniformed cop.

          6                 We'll conduct those interviews and if

          7  that person passes that interview, then we will

          8  submit to them.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So other than

         10  picking and choosing, based on experience, no formal

         11  training involved, no separate academy or anything

         12  like that?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Yes. There is an

         14  extensive training done. I would say just for the

         15  Department in general, we've really stepped up our

         16  training. We want everybody in the Department. You

         17  know, when the recruits go through the Academy they

         18  get training on gang, you know, awareness-type

         19  training and stuff to look for, and we try and

         20  constantly update that. So, when the recruits come

         21  out of the Academy, they get a training on gang, you

         22  know, awareness-type training and stuff to look for,

         23  and we try and constantly update that. So, when the

         24  recruits come out of the academy, they already have

         25  gang training. But in addition, we do training to
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          2  all specialized units within the Department. We want

          3  people that were out of the Academy 20 years ago

          4  still to know about gangs. So, we do presentations

          5  to precinct commanders, we'll do presentations to

          6  borough commanders, we'll do presentations to the

          7  school safety officers. So, we're constantly

          8  training the Department, and I think that is why we

          9  have a much more accurate focus on gangs today. So,

         10  it's not just the Gang Division, we're a support

         11  unit. We support investigations into gangs. But we

         12  have all these other units doing a lot of the work,

         13  as well, with us.

         14                 And so, when a person gets assigned

         15  to the Gang Division, we put them into a five-day

         16  training course. You know, we give them not only the

         17  gang awareness stuff, the only people really that

         18  can identify a gang member is the Gang Division, so

         19  all those members have to be trained on the

         20  criteria. We want to make sure that we're not

         21  mis-identifying somebody, not only to give them, you

         22  know, the current trends, but the past trends. We

         23  want to give them information on how to conduct

         24  investigations.

         25                 Often our suppression teams also have
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          2  to assist us while we're doing the investigations.

          3  So, we give them a Detective Bureau type of

          4  training. We give them like awareness type of

          5  training and it lasts about five days.

          6                 In addition, every year we pull in

          7  our Gang Division and we do a three-day training

          8  just to update everything and add anything new. This

          9  training also includes legal issues, you know,

         10  current laws and stuff that we utilize as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You mentioned

         12  your cooperation with other departments. I'm

         13  particularly concerned with the Department of

         14  Corrections. I represent Rikers, Rikers Island is in

         15  my district. For some reason I don't get many votes

         16  out of Rikers, but I represent that Island, and

         17  obviously there's a big problem with gangs there, so

         18  when you talk about your cooperation with

         19  Corrections, you touched upon it, but specifically

         20  how does that work when a gang member is arrested or

         21  put into jail, or coming out of jail; how do you

         22  work with Corrections?

         23                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: We work very

         24  closely with Corrections. In fact, a member of the

         25  Gang Division has been assigned out to Rikers
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          2  Island. What that person does is, when people come

          3  into Rikers, or while they're incarcerated, we like

          4  to try and interview them, find out a little bit

          5  about their gang, the area of the city where they

          6  are. So, it's an intelligence gathering function for

          7  us. And like I say, having that member of the Gang

          8  Division actually out there, it is so helpful to us.

          9                 In addition to us, the Intelligence

         10  Division also have members out there, and they do

         11  interviews, and when they find information about

         12  gangs, they call us, and again, we go in there and

         13  we document that information.

         14                 The Corrections Department also has

         15  their Gang Intelligence Unit. They come to our

         16  strategy meeting. One of the big things that we do,

         17  it's a very important function of the Division, and

         18  when I say the Division I mean the Administration of

         19  all the boroughs, is that we have a weekly strategy

         20  meeting, and we try and bring everybody in. We get

         21  members of the Department of Probation, Department

         22  of Parole, we have School Safety Agents, and then we

         23  have members of the school safety uniform or the

         24  NYPD, you know, the civilian and the uniformed

         25  component come. In addition, we have members of
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          2  Rikers Island that comes, and we share information.

          3                 If there's an incident that takes

          4  place in a particular area in the Bronx let's say,

          5  you know, we'll ask the Rikers's representative, can

          6  you see if you have anybody in custody that may have

          7  information on gangs in this particular area. And

          8  they'll go back and come to us and tell us what's

          9  going on.

         10                 Another line of communication is

         11  they'll sometimes interview an individual and

         12  they'll come to us and they'll say, you know, we

         13  have some information, there may be some hostility

         14  between two groups in a particular precinct and

         15  we'll deploy on the streets. Constant information

         16  coming out of Rikers Island, it's many units

         17  involved. It's a coordinated effort and it

         18  definitely, I know for a fact it has prevented

         19  several incidents out on the street, so it's been

         20  very helpful.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. I want to

         22  follow up on that. First let me introduce the other

         23  half of the group that was here earlier from NYU.

         24  Much quieter than the first half, by the way. But

         25  welcome. And, again, this is an oversight hearing of
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          2  the Police Department. This is the Public Safety

          3  Committee. We're doing oversight on gangs today and

          4  what the Police Department is doing to combat the

          5  problem, and you get to hear next from your esteemed

          6  Member Addabbo.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair. And welcome.

          9                 To the panel, I want to thank you

         10  very much for being here today, and let me first

         11  express my gratitude for the work that you do do

         12  with regards to this issue throughout the City. So,

         13  thank you very much for your efforts.

         14                 On page two, Chief Galati, you

         15  mentioned your relationship with the DA's Office.

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Yes, sir.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And I wanted

         18  to find out if you can explain a little in further

         19  detail how you work in relationship with the DA's

         20  office throughout the City has evolved over the

         21  years with relation to guns, gang-related activity?

         22                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: It's

         23  exceptional. I have to compliment every District

         24  Attorney's Office for their cooperation. Each

         25  District Attorney's Office has a designated Gang
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          2  Bureau Chief. In Brooklyn we have Deanna Rodriguez,

          3  in Manhattan it's actually Dan Rather, Jr., who is

          4  not the Bureau Chief, but rather he is the Bureau

          5  Chief of Violent Crime, as a section that just deals

          6  directly with gangs. Staten Island, Kathleen Norton;

          7  Queens, Mariella Herring, who we work very, very

          8  close with. And up in the Bronx it's Christine

          9  Skasia (phonetic). These DAs work with us exclus --

         10  I don't want to say exclusively they work with us

         11  here, but they work with us exclusively. We bring

         12  all our cases to them. Not only long-term cases when

         13  we're trying to conduct an investigation to take

         14  down a whole gang, but rather if we have an

         15  individual gang incident we'll call them, and

         16  they'll say, all right, we'll take that case and

         17  we're going to present that case to Grand Jury and

         18  take it to trial. So, there's a gang DA who works

         19  with the Gang Division members on a regular basis,

         20  and they have such a great relationship that it just

         21  helps those prosecution.

         22                 So, a lot of other things when it

         23  comes to whether or not a case is going to be plea

         24  bargained or not, a lot of stuff with whether or not

         25  a gang member is involved in some type of violence,
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          2  and we really don't want that individual back on the

          3  street. They'll try real hard to get high bail. So,

          4  the relationship there has really been an integral

          5  part of, you know, preventive future incidents and

          6  also getting very good prosecution on actual

          7  incidents that have occurred.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: That is very

          9  promising and reassuring, and the prosecution part

         10  is obviously very important. An issue that has been

         11  championed by our Chairman Peter Vallone very

         12  funding period is the funding of the DA's Office.

         13  And just if I may have a line of questioning along

         14  those lines, have you seen at all in the previous

         15  years when possibly the DA's Office was cut in

         16  funding and there had been a negative affect on

         17  possibly working with the DA's office in

         18  gang-related activity?

         19                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Sir, I really

         20  don't know the funding, what is going on with the

         21  DAs' offices as far as their funding. I do know

         22  that, if anything, I see good cooperation, a very,

         23  very -- you know, commitment by the DAs' office to

         24  work with us. So, I haven't seen any affects of

         25  funding, affecting anything with regards to our
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          2  operation.

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: So, it's still

          4  conversely as we lay the groundwork for the next

          5  fiscal year, which is Fiscal Year '08. If we were

          6  able to increase funding in any aspect of this

          7  gang-related activity issue, where would you see, in

          8  your opinion, additional funding helping you and

          9  maybe in the DAs' office, where could we allocate,

         10  in your opinion, additional funding that would help

         11  this issue?

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: I think that

         13  question would probably be better for the individual

         14  District Attorneys to try and determine where they

         15  would need that funding. I really can't speak on

         16  that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Anything

         18  within the NYPD? Any additional funding within NYPD

         19  would help?

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: The NYPD pays

         21  very close attention to the gang issue, and the

         22  requests that I have had have always been positive.

         23                 You know, I haven't had any issues

         24  with any equipment, or anything that I needed to

         25  perform or function. I would say that, no, I don't
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          2  have any issues that I would need funding for.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay. Well,

          4  again, I thank you for your efforts with regards to

          5  this issue.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, let me,

          8  before I go on to Council Member Monserrate, let me

          9  just welcome Council Member Gentile. Thank you for

         10  joining us today.

         11                 Council Member Hiram Monserrate is a

         12  former police officer, who represents one of the

         13  areas that are particularly plagued by some of our

         14  recent gangs, so we welcome his attendance here, and

         15  it's his turn for questions.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair.

         18                 Good morning, Chief. How are you?

         19                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Sir.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I have a

         21  few questions.

         22                 When we spoke about the manpower, you

         23  said that the unit is 230; is that correct?

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Yes, sir.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And that's
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          2  up from about 200? Or is that --

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: I believe in

          4  2003, when the last time the unit testified here, I

          5  believe there was 206 -- 203.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And it's

          7  our understanding that gang activity is up in this

          8  City; is that not correct?

          9                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: As I stated

         10  earlier, I wouldn't necessarily say that gang

         11  activity is up. I think what we're doing is

         12  recording gang activity much better. So, yes, we

         13  have an increase, but I do believe that's because

         14  we're doing a better job of identifying gang crime

         15  and recording it and reporting it better than we

         16  ever were before.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

         18                 Let me ask you, how many gang members

         19  do you think we have in the City of New York?

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Gang membership,

         21  it's a tough thing to put a number on it. Because

         22  not everybody, when we identify a gang member, not

         23  everybody remains a gang member for their entire

         24  life, so we've been identifying gang members since,

         25  you know, the mid-nineties. You know, some people
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          2  have gotten out of the gang life and now have

          3  productive lives.

          4                 We also identify gang members that

          5  don't live in the City, people that maybe visit the

          6  City and for whatever reason got involved into

          7  something and as a result we identified them as a

          8  gang member. So, I couldn't give you an accurate

          9  number of how many actual gang members we have

         10  residing in this City, what I can tell you is since

         11  the last time that we were here in 2003, we've

         12  identified approximately 3,000 new gang members.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:

         14  Three-thousand new gang members. I know it's hard to

         15  specifically get a hard number with respect to gang

         16  membership, but let's go with the loosest terms

         17  affiliated, or gang members affiliated with a gang,

         18  what would you say the ball park is? I'm not holding

         19  you to specifics.

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Again, I really

         21  couldn't put a number on it because the

         22  fluctuations, I couldn't say, you know, there are a

         23  lot of variables. People that no longer reside in

         24  the City or people that came to the City. I mean,

         25  just within the last couple of years, you know, with
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          2  the Puerto Rican Day Parade, we've had influx of

          3  Latin Kings that come into the City and attempted to

          4  disrupt the parade, and that resulted in a lot of

          5  arrests. I believe in the last two years we've

          6  arrested over 200 Latin Kings that have been

          7  identified, most of them from either Trenton, New

          8  Jersey, or Bridgeport, Connecticut. So, you know,

          9  that's 200 people that are in our database but

         10  doesn't necessarily mean that they reside in the

         11  City.

         12                 So, it's a fluctuation, it's very

         13  hard to put a number on.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Well, I

         15  guess we can safely say there are thousands of gang

         16  members in New York City. Would you agree with that

         17  statement?

         18                 You just said that you identified

         19  3,000 new members. At the very least, we know

         20  there's at least 3,000 new members.

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So, my

         23  statement is that we can understand and accept that

         24  there are thousands of gang members living or

         25  operating or working, which ever term you want to
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          2  use, in New York City; is that not correct?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Yes, thousands

          4  is a broad number. I don't really have a stamp

          5  number to put on it. I would say, you know, there's

          6  more than 3,000, yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: All right.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 There's some points I'm trying to

         10  make. I represent the 21st Council District, which

         11  includes the 110, 115 and a bit of the 109. And as

         12  you well know, the 110 Precinct has been plagued by

         13  gang activity, in particular centered around Newtown

         14  High School. With respect to high schools which

         15  would you say are the high schools with the highest,

         16  I won't use the term gang members, I'll use the term

         17  gang activity, so that we can be a little bit more

         18  ambiguous. Which high schools would you say

         19  currently are the most problematic with respect to

         20  gang activity.

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Excuse me one

         22  second.

         23                 Newtown High School has had some

         24  issues recently. However, with all high schools,

         25  what we do is, once we have some issues that come
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          2  up, we try and address them as quick as possible.

          3  And, you know, we work very closely, as I said

          4  earlier, with School Safety Division.

          5                 In addition, something that we've

          6  done within the last year, year and a half, is each

          7  school safety officer, the civilian end of it, they

          8  have what they call an FIO, Field Intelligence

          9  Officer, who reports directly to a sergeant in the

         10  Intelligence Division who is our liaison.

         11                 These individuals report to us and

         12  tell us about things that are going on and then we

         13  respond to it.

         14                 So, I think that we're getting a

         15  direct feed from the kids and students in the

         16  schools right out to the Gang Division, and we're

         17  effectively responding to it.

         18                 Newtown High School, we do have one

         19  index crime related to gang in there, that happened

         20  during the course of this year. But as a whole, I

         21  don't really see it as a major problem. I don't have

         22  it as one of my top ten schools.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Which is

         24  the worst high school?

         25                 Well, let me rephrase the question.
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          2  The high school which has been identified with more

          3  gang activity.

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: In Manhattan for

          5  us was Brandeis High School, okay? But we're talking

          6  very small numbers. We're talking about three

          7  incidents, three motivated incidents is what we're

          8  talking about.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: The term

         10  incident indicates what? Is that index crimes or any

         11  incident?

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Motivated index

         13  crime.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

         15  Simple harassment by gang members, is that taken

         16  into account, into these figures? Violations which

         17  are not crimes?

         18                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: If it's a

         19  motivated harassment, yes, we would figure that in.

         20  However, I could tell you basically if I talk about

         21  gang-motivated crimes, in the City and I'll do

         22  schools as a whole, we're talking about 69 total

         23  motivated crimes. Now, out of those 69 motivated

         24  crimes, graffiti itself, gang graffiti is a

         25  motivated crime. So, out of those 69 motivated
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          2  crimes, we're talking 30 of them alone were graffiti

          3  related.

          4                 Harassment is a definite crime that

          5  we come across when it's in relation to gangs. It's

          6  something that we try and help out with. And, again,

          7  this is working closely with the Board of Education

          8  and also with School Safety. We've had several

          9  harassments where in return we've arranged school

         10  safety transfers to get that child into another

         11  school, that that child had complained that they

         12  were being harassed by a gang.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right.

         14  Now, shifting from schools to geographics.

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Which are

         17  the top three geographic hot spots for gang activity

         18  in New York City?

         19                 You can break it down by precincts or

         20  commands, if that's easier.

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Just give me one

         22  second, sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: While you're

         24  getting your facts together, following this

         25  testimony we'll be hearing from our Bronx Borough
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          2  President, Adolfo Carrion, who has joined us and we

          3  welcome. And our State Criminal Justice Coordinator,

          4  Chauncey Parker, who has also joined us and welcome.

          5                 And we'll also be hearing from a

          6  former gang member, so we will have some interesting

          7  testimony coming up following this.

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: What we've seen,

          9  if we've seen increases in particular areas, a

         10  couple of areas of concern for us were in the 46 and

         11  52 precincts up in the Bronx, where earlier in the

         12  year we had a series of incidents that went back and

         13  forth between a couple of Dominican gangs.

         14                 In your area, the 110, the 115

         15  Precinct, there has been a series of events that

         16  have taken place over I'd say the last say five

         17  months, between two groups, a group called "Latin

         18  Kings" and a rival group of theirs called "ABK."

         19  This ABK/Latin King dispute, although it's been

         20  going on for a little while, there's been a series

         21  of arrests in these incidents and at this point I

         22  think that we have that under control. The violence

         23  is really between just a couple of members between

         24  these two groups. And I believe that real

         25  trouble-makers in these groups are incarcerated
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          2  right now, so I think that we're seeing that kind of

          3  easing off right now.

          4                 Another area where we've seen a

          5  little bit of an increase is in the 73rd Precinct,

          6  where we've seen an increase of some --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: The Sunset

          8  Park area?

          9                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Sunset Park

         10  would be the 72nd Precinct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: 73rd is

         12  where?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: 73rd is in

         14  Brooklyn. It's Brooklyn North, like East New York

         15  area.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: All right.

         17                 My last question, Mr. Chair is, with

         18  respect to assignment of officers, the Gang

         19  Intelligence Unit, is that also under you and not

         20  included in this 230 count?

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: No, there is a

         22  unit called "gang assessment," which works under the

         23  Intelligence Division. They also work on gang issues

         24  as well. That would not be included in this number.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: How many
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          2  members of the Department are members of that unit?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: I don't know the

          4  number, sir.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay. For

          6  areas that have been historically challenged with

          7  gang activity, whether it's in Queens, the Bronx or

          8  Brooklyn, do you at any time assign personnel

          9  permanently to those commands? They say to work

         10  three months, six months, to work specifically with

         11  those problem areas? Is that not a practice?

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: No, that is a

         13  practice. If I may, I'll go back to another area

         14  where we did see a slight increase in some gang

         15  activity in the area of the 67 and 70 Precinct, and

         16  what we did is we took members from the Gang

         17  Division to work alongside patrol, and try and

         18  really get into that strict zone where we were

         19  having these issues, and I think it had a real

         20  positive result and made a significant amount of

         21  arrests and the violence stopped. So, we will move

         22  people around to address issues.

         23                 Another thing that we do is we try

         24  and assign like a detective or one of our

         25  investigators to work with those detective squads,
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          2  so there's a good relationship back and forth and

          3  they could help, and we will assign them if there's

          4  an incident. We'll work with that detective squad

          5  until that case is actually solved.

          6                 One thing maybe, and I don't want to

          7  anticipate your question, but if I can just explain,

          8  we are a support unit, our suppression goes out and

          9  tries to identify and arrest members, but we're

         10  really a support unit for a lot of other units. We

         11  work very closely with patrol. If there's an issue

         12  that's going on, we let patrol know that we're

         13  getting information about gang problems and patrol

         14  supplements our work enforcement efforts by putting

         15  a lot of patrol officers for a high visibility.

         16                 If we have an issue that's going on

         17  in a school, again, we work with school safety and

         18  we work with patrol and ourselves. So, although our

         19  officer staffing, we supplement or we support these

         20  other units. So, if there's issues, there's a decent

         21  amount of people working on those issues.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. You

         25  mentioned graffiti. Do you have an educated guess as
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          2  to how much graffiti is gang related? What

          3  percentage?

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: I do not have a

          5  percentage. I can tell you some of the precincts

          6  which had the highest complaints. I believe overall

          7  graffiti, the 114th Precinct has seven graffiti

          8  incidents that we can relate to --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That happens to

         10  be in mine.

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Yes, it is.

         12  Seven incidents that's related to gang graffiti.

         13                 That's seven incidents. The 110

         14  Precinct --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: When you say

         16  "incidents," you mean seven arrests based on gang

         17  graffiti?

         18                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Seven incidents

         19  where we've actually gone and looked at the graffiti

         20  and catalogued it.

         21                 So, we do. What happens with graffiti

         22  is, as I mentioned earlier in schools, we talked

         23  about graffiti in schools. Schools and in public

         24  housing it's a very important part of what we want

         25  to do. We want to catalogue graffiti when we see it.
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          2  So, if school safety calls us right away to say

          3  there's some gang graffiti, we go and we take a

          4  picture of it, and then the school takes care of

          5  that graffiti right away and gets rid of it. We can

          6  catalogue that so we can associate that with another

          7  gang, with that gang, and maybe that will help us

          8  somewhere down the line, and an investigation. Or

          9  maybe we could find that graffiti somewhere in

         10  another part of that precinct or that community. And

         11  we could say okay this gang is associated with this

         12  area, so it's a tool for us.

         13                 But we don't like the graffiti to

         14  stay there, so what we do is in public housing, as

         15  soon as we're called, we take a picture, catalogue

         16  that and then the Housing Department will remove

         17  that graffiti.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And do you then

         19  give that information to the graffiti unit?

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Yes. I don't

         21  have the graffiti units statistics on theirs. I do

         22  know that we have a very aggressive graffiti unit,

         23  and, you know, I did look at some of the statistics.

         24  And I know that their arrests are way up from the

         25  same period last year.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: People don't

          3  realize the extent of gang graffiti in the City.

          4                 In fact, I got a call once, I think

          5  it was middle village, someone who asked me, they

          6  had known about the work I had done with graffiti

          7  and asked me to stop this guy "Gunit" from putting

          8  up graffiti all over Queens, Gunit, I believe. So, I

          9  called the graffiti unit and I said who is this guy

         10  Gunit, like an idiot, because it turns out that

         11  Gunit is not a person, but obviously there is a

         12  group out there G-unit, a rival group that's put out

         13  graffiti G-u-not to go after G-unit and so it was a

         14  little learning experience for me.

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Just to give you

         16  an idea, I had mentioned about those graffiti

         17  incidents in your district. In the 114 they also

         18  lead the City in arrests of graffiti. They have 85

         19  arrests.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I have something

         21  to do with that, I believe. I call them up every two

         22  days, saying get this guy, get that guy, get him

         23  right now. But they are doing an excellent job up

         24  there and that's your, well, used to be your friend,

         25  Inspector Greyer, who has now done such a good job
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          2  they have now put him down with Council Member

          3  Barron. I don't know why that happened, but...

          4                 The last question I have is, you may

          5  have mentioned this but it's been three years since

          6  our last gang hearing. What gangs do you see

          7  increasing in membership and what gangs do you see

          8  it being less of a problem. Obviously, we know the

          9  Gottis are less of a problem, if not for

         10  convictions, just through age. But what gangs are

         11  you seeing now that are rising up to take their

         12  place?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: I think when we

         14  talk about gangs, there's also a perception, and

         15  it's tough to look at it because sometimes when we

         16  look outside, or a community residence may look

         17  outside and they'll see some youth outside, they'll

         18  say, oh, these are gang members. And I think what's

         19  happening is we have, I'd say, you know, young

         20  teenagers that are very impressionable right now are

         21  very much involved in, as you said just earlier,

         22  Gunit or you know, popular artists, popular video

         23  games, and fashion goes along with this, and I think

         24  when we look out there, I think we see a lot more

         25  that we think is gang than actually is gang.
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          2                 So, G unit is associated with 50

          3  cent. He has a whole clothing line. That G unit is

          4  associated with the Bloods.

          5                 Now, there are many people that wear

          6  G unit clothing, that aren't, you know, Blood gang

          7  members. In fact, I know police officers that wear

          8  clothing that's G unit. So, it's hard that we're

          9  looking. You know, red Yankee baseball caps was a

         10  popular thing with the Bloods many years ago. Today

         11  you'll see many people wearing red Blood Yankee

         12  hats, red, not necessarily Blood.

         13                 So, this is why I think the

         14  perception out there is there is more gangs out

         15  there than there were years ago, and I think that

         16  has a lot to do with the culture, the young culture

         17  that's going on out there.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It's more than

         19  just perception. I mean, there was just a study, a

         20  national study that showed a gang membership as more

         21  prevalent than ever. In fact, their estimate is

         22  750,000 members of gangs throughout the country. So,

         23  it's more than just perception. Obviously the places

         24  most affected by gangs are New York City.

         25                 You're keeping a lid on it right now,
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          2  but obviously it is a problem. So, other than the

          3  fact that people might mistake certain clothing for

          4  gang affiliation where it's not, what else do you

          5  see is on the rise, and what else is on the way in?

          6                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: We're looking at

          7  the top gangs that are prevalent.

          8                 We look at Bloods and Crips. And I'll

          9  speak about the Bloods and Crips kind of together.

         10  The Bloods are probably the largest gang that we

         11  have in this City followed by the Crips.

         12                 Now, when I say the largest gang,

         13  it's not to say that they're all one gang.

         14                 When we look at the Bloods, this

         15  could be sets that are as small as three of four

         16  members that maybe live in one particular apartment

         17  building, maybe as large as 25 people may be

         18  involved in organized drug trade.

         19                 But they're very, very loosely

         20  structured. They really don't communicate with each

         21  other. We don't have Bloods from the Bronx talking

         22  to Bloods in Brooklyn. May not even have Blood gang

         23  members from block to block talking to each other.

         24                 In fact, I think it's easy sometimes

         25  for people to take, you know, a gang affiliation and
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          2  then we'll find that we've identified this person as

          3  a Blood, and found out they switched to a Crypt the

          4  next time they were arrested. So, it's very, within

          5  the Bloods and Crips, it's very loosely organized

          6  and there's no, let's say one supreme Blood that

          7  would control a blood.

          8                 So, each set has their own rules, and

          9  some are more strict and some aren't strict. Some of

         10  them are just young kids that are saying that we're

         11  Bloods, and hopefully they grow out of it and they

         12  get productive.

         13                 The next gang after the Bloods and

         14  Crips I would say is the Latin Kings. Now, the Latin

         15  Kings are more structured. The Latin Kings, they

         16  geographically stay in particular areas and call

         17  themselves "tribes."

         18                 Now, the Latin Kings do report to one

         19  individual who is called "an inker." What we found,

         20  though, is that after a large takedown from many

         21  years ago where an individual named King Tone was

         22  removed, there was a series of people that thought

         23  they can become the inker themselves.

         24                 One individual that came to our

         25  attention was an individual named "King Lucky" out
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          2  of Bushwick, and we did a long-term case on him. He

          3  was the self-proclaimed inker of New York City, and

          4  we were able to arrest him, and that was a federal

          5  case so that individual was gone for a long time.

          6                 So, the structure of the Latin Kings,

          7  although it is structured, I think we kind of have

          8  them a little bit on the ropes because we are

          9  attacking their upper echelon.

         10                 As I said earlier, the South and

         11  Central American gangs are growing.

         12                 Again, though, I don't see them

         13  directly involved in, you know, a lot of criminal

         14  activity.

         15                 A lot of members of these gangs, they

         16  work everyday, but they'll come home at night and

         17  they'll associate with their fellow gang members,

         18  and it's all a pride thing. You know, they're not

         19  preying on innocent people but rather, you know,

         20  they see a rival gang member over there and they'll

         21  have dispute over that. So, you know, those are kind

         22  of like the trends, the organization of the Bloods

         23  and the Crips, and maybe the new Central and South

         24  American gangs that are coming up.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: There's so many
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          2  follow-ups we could do with that, but as I said, we

          3  have very important people waiting and I'm going to

          4  have one last follow-up question, not regarding the

          5  Yankees, to Jim Oddo, and then we're going to move

          6  on to our next witnesses.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman.

          9                 Very quickly, after my soliloquy

         10  about curfew, I forgot to ask a question

         11  specifically about my home Borough, Staten Island.

         12                 Are there any statistics you can

         13  share with us about gang activity on Staten Island?

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Yes. Just give

         15  me one second. I'm sorry.

         16                 Okay, within Staten Island, Staten

         17  Island motivated gang crime is down 33 percent right

         18  now. Staten Island, we're talking small numbers.

         19  Staten Island does not have a very large gang

         20  problem. When we talk of motivated crime, Staten

         21  Island has one less incident than we had last year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Chief Galati,

         23  thank you very much for your testimony today, but

         24  most importantly for the work, for the dangerous

         25  work you're doing out there every day to keep us
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          2  safe. Hopefully three years from now you'll continue

          3  to be there and have good statistics for us.

          4                 We are going to work with Sue Petito

          5  and with you to craft, to amend some of the bills we

          6  have pending here at the City Council, to push

          7  Albany to pass the bill, that they should push. We

          8  have a resolution to do that already. So, we'll have

          9  future hearings. We'll probably have them jointly

         10  with Education, Juvenile Justice, to bring those

         11  committees to this also and follow-up and push those

         12  laws that we just discussed, that will give you the

         13  tools that you need to continue to do the great job

         14  you do.

         15                 So, thank you very much for coming

         16  down today, we appreciate it.

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF GALATI: Thank you, sir.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Next we're going

         19  to hear from Borough President Adolfo Carrion, who

         20  just recently had a gang summit, and so we're going

         21  to get some of his expertise.

         22                 Hopefully you put Mike Murphy to work

         23  on your prepared statement. Made him work all night.

         24                 Did we get a prepared statement, or

         25  do we not have one? No? Okay.
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          2                 Borough President Carrion, welcome

          3  again to Chambers. It's always a pleasure to have

          4  you here and we had a lot of experts wanting to come

          5  down today but didn't say yes to all of them, but we

          6  knew you recently had a gang summit, which we

          7  applaud you for, and had the particular expertise in

          8  this area and we welcome your suggestions and your

          9  thoughts on what we can do down here to help you in

         10  your fight against gang violence.

         11                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chairman. And thank you for your leadership on

         13  this issue, and to all of the members on the

         14  Committee, Council Members Oddo, Foster, Gentile,

         15  and I saw Addabbo and Monserrate before, and thank

         16  you for focusing on this important issue.

         17                 I just wanted to say for the record

         18  that only blue Yankee baseball caps are acceptable,

         19  and so just for the record, let it be known that if

         20  you're a true Yankee fan you'll wear blue.

         21                 Let me share with you some thoughts,

         22  and it is an important issue, not only in the Bronx

         23  but in this City and in every major City in this

         24  country, and I think that while the Police

         25  Department will present a picture that is relatively
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          2  rosie, and, you know, I say that and I have dear

          3  friends, including the person that was here

          4  testifying in the Police Department, I don't believe

          5  as they do that these are loosely knitted

          6  organizations. I think there is a deeper culture

          7  here that needs to be addressed. But they have some

          8  good intelligence. We have some intelligence as well

          9  from the street. But thank you for this opportunity.

         10                 I know that you've been an outspoken

         11  leader on this issue, and have introduced

         12  legislation in the Council on this matter. I also

         13  know that you played a critical role in putting more

         14  police officers on our streets, you and members of

         15  this Committee and this body.

         16                 I think we all understand that the

         17  more officers we have on the streets of New York

         18  City, the safer we are simply by volume and the

         19  capacity to fight crime.

         20                 In the last several months I've

         21  spoken out on this problem of gangs in the Bronx and

         22  in other parts of the City.

         23                 I recently hosted a public meeting

         24  along with the Bronx District Attorney and local

         25  police officials to examine this critical matter
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          2  from that meeting and through other outreach

          3  efforts. I have several recommendations that I want

          4  to present to you to address the scourge of gangs in

          5  New York City.

          6                 First, I believe the Council should

          7  support two key pieces of State legislation that

          8  will formally offer a legal definition of gangs and

          9  will increase the penalties for any criminal gang

         10  activity and define gang recruitment as a crime.

         11                 I also believe that the Department --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's the

         13  parole Sabini (phonetic) legislation?

         14                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: That's the

         15  Rivera legislation, and I'll give you a little bit

         16  more further in the testimony. And just so you

         17  understand, Mr. Chairman, we will be sending you

         18  written testimony after this gets cleaned up. You'll

         19  understand.

         20                 I also believe that the Department of

         21  Education must work more closely with the New York

         22  City Police Department.

         23                 The information from the

         24  conversations that we've had with the Police

         25  Department is that they need more and better
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          2  information from the schools.

          3                 There must be a more open sharing of

          4  vital information and there must be anti-gang

          5  programs created in our schools that target young

          6  children, because they are being recruited in the

          7  middle schools.

          8                 We must stop the flow of our young

          9  people into this cycle of violence.

         10                 And finally, we must let these thugs

         11  know that they cannot hide from the law, and that

         12  we're watching them. And to that end I think that

         13  the idea of installing cameras in areas of known

         14  gang activity might be a good tool, and I'll talk a

         15  little bit about that later.

         16                 By way of general overview, gangs

         17  today in New York have become Interstate and in some

         18  cases international and multi-million dollar

         19  conglomerates involved in high-level narcotics

         20  trafficking and extortion schemes. They use their

         21  blood money to terrorize our neighborhoods and hold

         22  our communities hostage in some cases.

         23                 In New York City alone we have

         24  approximately 15,000 gang members, and that number,

         25  you know, again, you can argue that number just as
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          2  we argue New York City's population.

          3                 While the New York City Police

          4  Department has one of the best --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Borough

          6  President, how many did you say?

          7                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:

          8  Fifteen-thousand.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:

         10  Fifteen-thousand.

         11                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That number

         13  comes from where?

         14                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Well, this

         15  number comes from a study that was done when the

         16  legislation was being prepared up in Albany by

         17  Assemblyman Peter Rivera's team, and of course, our

         18  conversations with the Police Department.

         19                 I believe that the NYPD has one of

         20  the best Gang Divisions in the country, and we,

         21  unfortunately, have less officers now than we did in

         22  previous years. You know that because you go through

         23  the budget cycle every year when you look at that.

         24                 Additionally our officers are now

         25  forced often into double duty protecting our city
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          2  from the ever threat of terrorism, which we've

          3  turned a lot of our police forces into, their

          4  attention toward the threat of terrorism. So, I

          5  think it's crucial that we give law enforcement

          6  officials all the legal tools they need to combat

          7  gangs so that we can throw these gangsters behind

          8  bars where they belong and hopefully prevent a

          9  generation that's coming up in the City from ever

         10  taking that choice and going into that life.

         11                 In recent months too many of our

         12  young people have been taken from us and many others

         13  have been beaten, maimed, disfigured by violent

         14  gangs and violent gang activity.

         15                 Just this past month, there have been

         16  several high profile gang-related arrests throughout

         17  the City. On the 14th of September, and you're very

         18  familiar with this, the police arrested 80 gang

         19  members in Queens. That's not a loosely knit

         20  organization, obviously, including one charge with

         21  shooting a 15 year old to death.

         22                 On the 9th of September, a 19 year

         23  old was shot dead in the Bronx outside of his

         24  sister's apartment building after getting into a

         25  petty argument with three suspected gang members at
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          2  a fastfood restaurant.

          3                 On the 1st of September, a 15 year

          4  old boy was stabbed three times in the back by a

          5  pack of teens, in what is suspected to be a

          6  gang-related activity on a Brooklyn subway train.

          7                 So, you know, I think New Yorkers are

          8  saying enough is enough. People are sick and tired

          9  of this. This type of gang crime creates a culture

         10  of fear in our City.

         11                 Gangs, they drive out legitimate

         12  businesses. They make it harder for people to live

         13  in their neighborhoods and do the basic things that

         14  they need to do, like going to the store.

         15                 This activity has an economic impact

         16  in the sense of even property values where capital

         17  will take flight if there is a sense that there is

         18  not safety somewhere. And we know that certainly

         19  from our history in the Bronx and the South Bronx in

         20  particular and the flight of investment and the

         21  flight of capital in the early seventies up until

         22  the middle eighties.

         23                 In gang-infested communities it's a

         24  fact of life where people fear for their safety.

         25  It's simply walking down the street becomes an
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          2  issue.

          3                 So, eradicating gangs from our

          4  communities requires what I think is a multi-tiered

          5  approach that places special emphasis on prevention

          6  and enforcement.

          7                 As I stated before, I have several

          8  recommendations that will enhance our efforts. The

          9  first is this idea that the Department of Education

         10  needs to share more information in a more formal way

         11  and much more aggressively.

         12                 According to gang experts, schools

         13  are one of the biggest sources for gang recruitment.

         14  While the Department of Corrections works closely

         15  with the NYPD to identify gang members, and, you

         16  know, stuff that happens in our jails, I have been

         17  told by many law enforcement personnel that there is

         18  a perception that the Department of Education does

         19  not effectively provide information about gangs in

         20  schools. And I don't know if you're going to have

         21  the Department of Education here this time around,

         22  but certainly I know you suggested that you'll have

         23  them both back together, which I think is a good

         24  idea.

         25                 As a result, the NYPD is not
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          2  necessarily able to stop gang activity in the

          3  schools as successfully as it could. So, DOE needs

          4  to do a better job of working with the NYPD in this

          5  regard.

          6                 As it relates to the legislation,

          7  there are really two things. One, we must define

          8  what constitutes a gang and the definition of gang

          9  member under criminal law, and enhance the penalty

         10  classifications and the accompanying sentences for

         11  crimes committed on behalf of a gang or in

         12  furtherance of gang activity.

         13                 This concept was introduced by

         14  Assemblyman Peter Rivera as Bill A.10268-c, which

         15  we'll be sure to get to you.

         16                 And, second, I think it's critical

         17  that the State criminalize gang recruitment, and

         18  provide that such activity will constitute a Class A

         19  misdemeanor offense.

         20                 This past spring, Assemblyman Rivera

         21  introduced legislation, in this case Bill A.11334,

         22  that makes it a misdemeanor offense when a gang

         23  member solicits someone to join their gang or

         24  prevents someone from leaving the gang, which is

         25  always, you know, we ran into young people in our
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          2  discussions that said I want to leave this gang, I

          3  want to stop this life, it's negative, it's not

          4  good, but they fear for their life when they're

          5  trying to go on the right path.

          6                 I also understand, Mr. Chairman, that

          7  you are working on similar legislation in this

          8  Chamber, it's imperative that gangs and individual

          9  gang members be held criminally responsible for

         10  preying on young people who are especially

         11  susceptible to the corrupting influences of gang

         12  activity.

         13                 As it relates to the issue of cameras

         14  and I'll make a side comment and I'm looking forward

         15  to submitting a written testimony, but, you know,

         16  we've instituted this whole red light camera thing

         17  in our City, and the Administration announced that

         18  they want to put more red light cameras out in the

         19  intersections to prevent tragedy, to ensure that we

         20  catch the people who violate the law this way, it's

         21  unsafe, et cetera, et cetera. If that's a serious

         22  issue, we know that gang activity is a very serious

         23  issue. And if it has to do with safety and security

         24  and preventing death and all of the other terrible

         25  things that happen with gang activity, then I think
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          2  just as we did, and we've done it around the City, I

          3  know that on Fordham Road the Police Department,

          4  because of a petty crime crime wave that was

          5  happening with pick-pockets and muggings and all

          6  that nonsense, installed cameras on that commercial

          7  corridor, it's the third largest commercial corridor

          8  in the City, in terms of a generation of retail

          9  sales, a million square feet of commercial space. It

         10  is an important commercial corridor, and in order to

         11  ensure its viability and the customers' safety and

         12  security, the families who go shopping here, these

         13  cameras were installed on Fordham Road.

         14                 There were people that said, you

         15  know, the didn't agree with that, and what has

         16  happened since, and it would be interesting to have

         17  the Police Department report that in the context of

         18  the use of these cameras, is that there has been a

         19  severe reduction in crime activity on Fordham Road

         20  because, guess what, the bad guys know that they're

         21  going to be seen. And, so, I think that the use of

         22  additional cameras in areas of known activity,

         23  clearly, you know, where there's a trend.

         24                 And lastly, I think that we need to

         25  ensure that our children are provided with safe and
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          2  effective alternatives to gangs and that's going to

          3  require investment. You all fight for that. You

          4  fight for the young people in your districts, we try

          5  to open Ys, we try to open rec centers, community

          6  centers. I think that one way to address this issue

          7  is to look at our school buildings in every

          8  neighborhood, and there are thousands of schools in

          9  the City, as places, as community centers, that they

         10  should be open wherever there is a gym, wherever

         11  there is an art room, wherever there is a cafeteria,

         12  a space, a performance space in our City, it should

         13  be a youth center.

         14                 Now, how do we do that? You know,

         15  let's discuss it. Let's discuss it in the budget

         16  exercise. Let's look at how do we take the school

         17  building and open it from 3:00 to 6, 7:00 at night.

         18                 You all remember the controversial

         19  midnight basketball program, and the fact that, you

         20  know, this program was used to take some kids off

         21  the street and put them on the right track, and give

         22  them positive activities and burn all of that energy

         23  that they would otherwise put into negative

         24  activity. Well, I think we understand the formula.

         25  Some of us as parents know, and I have teenage kids,
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          2  so I know that we have to give them the positive

          3  activities that will put them on the right track.

          4  That requires investment, and that means that we

          5  need to dedicate more resources. And we need more

          6  partners.

          7                 There is no reason why the school

          8  buildings shut down at three and don't open up from

          9  3:00 on a Friday afternoon til Monday morning, when

         10  it can serve as a town hall and a community center

         11  and a center for good, positive activity. And, so,

         12  the formula for that, I don't bring the solution,

         13  but I want to offer the idea.

         14                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         15  come before you and share my thoughts.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, thank you

         17  for the valuable information you've given us.

         18                 You provided, once again, more

         19  evidence that cameras work, and that's something

         20  that we debate down here often, so that's very

         21  helpful for the future.

         22                 You probably are aware that the

         23  Police Department is instituting a new program

         24  called "Argus." I love it, they come up with the

         25  best names. But Argus, I think it's some sort of
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          2  mythological creature with lots of eyes for their

          3  new cameras that they're picking up all over the

          4  City, at least 505 are being installed. So, I think

          5  potentially your idea is an excellent one, since

          6  gang activity is most prevalent, and I'm sure -- I

          7  know they have a representative here, they usually

          8  do, willing to sit down with you and discuss some

          9  areas and put those up, and if I can be helpful in

         10  that, we can as a Council, let us know.

         11                 In the Bronx itself, how would you

         12  describe the prevalence in gang activity. Have you

         13  seen an increase, a decrease, what have you noticed?

         14                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Well,

         15  first of all, the Police Department has done a

         16  phenomenal job of bringing crime down in our City,

         17  and I have great admiration and respect for every

         18  police officer that puts on the uniform and walks

         19  out into our neighborhoods, knowing that they might

         20  possibly not come home at night. And it's terribly

         21  emotional and tragic when we, as public officials,

         22  have to go to a funeral because they put their life

         23  on the line and it was taken.

         24                 So, I want to establish that clearly

         25  for the record I am pro strong crime fighting in our
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          2  town. I believe in the "broken window theory," that

          3  if you allow petty crimes to take hold like

          4  graffiti, and other petty street crimes, that that

          5  just snowballs into other activity and creates a

          6  sense that that kind of activity and that crime is

          7  acceptable. So, I think we need to be very clear

          8  about that.

          9                 We experienced a terrible period of

         10  gang activity in our City, let alone the Bronx, and

         11  in the major cities in our country during the heroin

         12  epidemic or that period of time, and then we lived

         13  sort of with the results of that for awhile. When I

         14  came up in middle school in the 1970s, I was born in

         15  '61, so I was in middle school, and I remember

         16  being in the seventh, eighth, ninth grade where we

         17  had, you know, gangs coming to the school and the

         18  kids were scared to leave the school building.

         19                 Then the gangs seemed to disappear

         20  for a long time, and there was stability, in my

         21  estimation, from my own experience, living and

         22  growing up in the Bronx. Even when I was a member of

         23  the City Council and I was serving here, which was

         24  from 1998 to 2001, we still didn't have this

         25  phenomenon of the explosion of Crips and Bloods.
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          2                 We were starting to hear stories that

          3  they were coming across the country, and they were

          4  starting to show up in different cities. And I think

          5  this is really of late, and there is, you know, it

          6  was interesting what, the testimony was offered by

          7  the police official here before, where he said,

          8  look, some of the gangs are simply, you know sort of

          9  self-survival organizations, because you have new

         10  immigrants coming into established poor communities

         11  in effect, you know, multi-generational, families

         12  that have been in several generations in the housing

         13  projects. There's already a culture of acceptance of

         14  a lifestyle of you have to belong to something and

         15  protect yourself and use violence as a way to

         16  resolve conflict.

         17                 And, so, I think that there is a

         18  wave, or a ripple, maybe not a wave. The District

         19  Attorney in the public hearing that we had said,

         20  there is not a crisis. And the Assemblyman argued,

         21  well, there's not a crisis, it's not in the state of

         22  emergency, but there is a growing trend that there's

         23  more gang-related activity.

         24                 We have seen, and I have no formal

         25  numbers right here to support it, but just the
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          2  siting of three incidents in September, in some of

          3  our boroughs, I think is an indication of what is

          4  happening. And we've got to get these young people

          5  into positive activities.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I couldn't agree

          7  more.

          8                 We are joined by Council Member

          9  Gennaro and Yassky, and let me go to Council Member

         10  Oddo, who I don't believe could possibly ask you a

         11  question about Staten Island.

         12                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: About

         13  baseball probably.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Borough

         15  President Carrion has a great relationship with

         16  Staten Island, one that may grow in time one day.

         17                 Welcome home.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: He did it. He

         19  managed to do it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Welcome home.

         21                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: First of all, I

         23  want to thank you for your comments and your

         24  leadership with respect to the camera issue, because

         25  it really wasn't that long ago that there was some
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          2  here in the City Council, the Chairman and myself

          3  amongst them, that were very supportive of the use

          4  of cameras, and frankly, before they were popular.

          5  And I fought to have them placed in schools in my

          6  district, and I did it because the principals and

          7  the parents wanted it, and the teachers wanted it.

          8  So, although I have to say, having spent four of the

          9  greatest years of my life at Rose Hill, I spent a

         10  significant amount of time on Fordham Road, I'm

         11  probably grateful there weren't cameras then, or I

         12  might not be a Councilman right now.

         13                 The real point I want to get to,

         14  though, is the comments about the cycle that you

         15  referred to. I think a lot of that cycle and I think

         16  the experts testified to this, and we'll probably

         17  hear from the State, you know, it has to do with the

         18  demographics, and the change in demographics.

         19                 And before you got here, I quoted a

         20  professor who testified ten years ago at that very

         21  seat warning us that in the next ten, 15, 20 years

         22  the cycle was going to come back, and I think that's

         23  what we're seeing. And to be ahead of the cusp is

         24  important.

         25                 I would just ask if, and, again, I
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          2  talked about this prior to you getting here, if you

          3  would keep an open mind about the curfew issue, and

          4  this is something that is frankly becoming timely

          5  again. What was raised over a decade ago, it

          6  coincided or it preceded a very difficult time

          7  between the New York City Police Department and

          8  communities of color, and I think that essentially

          9  ended any chance of that. And I think under this

         10  Administration and this Police Commissioner, I think

         11  those relationships have improved.

         12                 And I won't put you on the spot and

         13  ask for your thoughts, unless you want to share them

         14  with us, but I think it speaks to the gang issue, as

         15  well as the overall issue of juvenile crime. I think

         16  it's one of the tools in the tool box that is being

         17  used in many, many communities, including big cities

         18  across this country.

         19                 So, I just ask you to keep an open

         20  mind about it, because there are communities in

         21  every borough that could benefit from it.

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Thank you,

         23  Council member. Thank you for giving me the room to

         24  not have to answer about the curfew issue because I

         25  think it's something that is pretty delicate.
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          2                 But you know, as far back as the

          3  founding of this public and its trade points here on

          4  the East Coast and the establishment of a Dutch post

          5  and then New York in its birth, I mean, you know,

          6  it's the stuff of movies, gangs of New York and they

          7  will always and always has been conflict when their

          8  population shifts because on the one hand people

          9  feel that they're losing their standing, and on the

         10  other hand there are folks pushing saying we need

         11  standing, we need economic engagement, we want to be

         12  part of a decision-making process, as well, and then

         13  it plays out in a very messy way in places, you

         14  know, this gang problem is not unique to New York

         15  and it's not unique to American cities. It's

         16  everywhere.

         17                 The question for us, because

         18  sometimes you almost live with the guilt that, wow,

         19  this is special, this is a special New York problem,

         20  it's not, it's a human condition. And I think it has

         21  to do with a human condition, and I think that the

         22  real challenge for us then as a government is how we

         23  stay ahead of the curve, as you suggested, and give

         24  instructive engagement to young people so that

         25  they're not choosing a path that is destructive to
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          2  their families and to the prospects to the future of

          3  their community in a City like New York or any major

          4  City.

          5                 So, I will keep an open mind. Thank

          6  you, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And our last

          8  question to our Borough President will come from

          9  Council Member Gentile.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chairman. And welcome back to the Chambers, Mr.

         12  Borough President.

         13                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: I'm curious,

         15  you had mentioned when you began your talk that you

         16  thought there were much deeper causes and

         17  relationships in the gang activity, more so than

         18  what was put forth by the Police Department.

         19                 I'm not sure we heard what you

         20  thought those deeper connections and deeper causes,

         21  root causes are?

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Well, you

         23  know, in the testimony we heard we heard that the

         24  Latin Kings, for instance, are much more organized

         25  according to their intelligence than the Bloods and
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          2  the Crips, and that you have sort of the birthing of

          3  these smaller groups around the City, and it's very

          4  localized.

          5                 This, in effect, is a form of

          6  organized crime. I mean, you organize as a group and

          7  then you do bad things, and you hurt people and you

          8  violate the law. I'm not entirely convinced that a

          9  group of Bloods from Mott Haven is not talking to a

         10  group of Bloods from Castle Hill. The City is much

         11  smaller than what it appears to be. And the kids

         12  talk to each other. They do. So, it's more

         13  anecdotal, and I think it's worth taking a

         14  scientific look at it. And it would be interesting

         15  to see, you know, and we may have to have this,

         16  obviously, off the record, it's a very delicate

         17  exercise, is to look at the tools that the Police

         18  Department are using, is using, that the Police

         19  Department is using to examine and define what it

         20  means to have an organized group.

         21                 I don't buy the kids that are getting

         22  arrested saying, oh, no, it's just four of us. I

         23  think we have to look deeper. I think maybe it

         24  requires that connection to the schools that's more

         25  profound. Maybe it requires having some intelligence
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          2  in the schools on a daily basis.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Do you think

          4  then the Police Department has not focused enough on

          5  the networking throughout the City?

          6                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: I wouldn't

          7  say that. No, I wouldn't say that. They need to look

          8  at it in maybe more creative ways. But as I said in

          9  my testimony, I think we have the best gang unit in

         10  the country. Los Angeles has serious gang problems,

         11  and I'm very good friends with the new Mayor Antonio

         12  Viara Rosa (phonetic), and we're talking about, you

         13  know, management issues as it relates to this.

         14                 LAPD I think has a much harder time

         15  than NYPD in controlling what's happening over

         16  there. You know, but then again, look at the

         17  demographics in the shifts that are happening in LA

         18  and in California, as well.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Mr. Chairman,

         20  just to follow up with one other question. Mr.

         21  Borough President, you had mentioned that you

         22  thought the NYPD and DOE should work closer

         23  together. Are you also suggesting in addition to a

         24  law enforcement approach more of a social service

         25  type of approach to the endemic problem?
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          2                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION:

          3  Absolutely. We need to get the intelligence, and

          4  sort of the behavioral side, and what happens in the

          5  school culture, and then there needs to be a more

          6  programmatic intensive approach that includes police

          7  officers, you know, in the schools working with the

          8  kids, out of uniform. And there we can be very

          9  creative. The notion of opening up the school beyond

         10  3:00 and making it a town hall and a community

         11  center -- look, when I grew up, I was born here in

         12  Manhattan, we lived in Williamsburg for the first

         13  year in my life, then we lived in Lower East Side of

         14  Manhattan til '69 and then we moved to the Bronx. I

         15  don't remember a moment in my life, and I think that

         16  the City did well by this citizen, I don't remember

         17  a moment in my life when I was not playing

         18  basketball in my gymnasium in my school, when I was

         19  not involved in a musical activity in my school,

         20  when I was not involved in art in my school, engaged

         21  in sports in my school, these buildings are closing.

         22  We're penny-wise and pound foolish.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And those

         24  things were happening during the fiscal crisis in

         25  the 1970s?
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          2                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Yes,

          3  absolutely. So we need solutions that use that tool

          4  as the glue of that community. The school has to be

          5  more of an asset than just the three Rs, and we're

          6  going to focus on literacy and we're going to teach

          7  to the test and test prep, and obviously the

          8  standards are important. I don't remember the

          9  hysterical conversation publicly about standards at

         10  our time, because we were so engaged in the school

         11  community and in our communities. I think we need to

         12  come back to that. And I guess my job is to go back

         13  and look at how we paid for it then, you know?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Has it ever

         15  been made in the Bronx, in terms of after school

         16  activities?

         17                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: We did a

         18  number of things, one of which was to open up the

         19  Bronx to the development of small schools. We've

         20  created more than 50 small schools in four years,

         21  and in those small school models we extended the

         22  school days and we have non-profit organizations

         23  from the neighborhoods working in the school to

         24  provide these things for the kids.

         25                 Our attendance rates that were about
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          2  65, 68 percent for high school kids have gone up in

          3  those schools to 95 percent and better, because the

          4  kids are engaged. They're interested. They're

          5  socially connected to the school community. They

          6  hold each other accountable. It's a completely

          7  different relationship. It's not, oh, you know what?

          8  I have to go back to school and I'm going to have to

          9  tolerate the six hours there and then I'm jetting

         10  out as soon as possible, to go to what is the

         11  question? Because they're not going necessarily to a

         12  youth center, to a Y, to a church gym, they're

         13  spending lots and lots of time in the streets, and

         14  lots of times simply playing in this virtual

         15  universe, and you know what happens in the virtual

         16  universes they play in. You look at the games

         17  they're playing with. They're playing with these

         18  violent games.

         19                 So, we need to create, reconnect

         20  these kids to the City and its life, and what it

         21  means to be human, what it means to be civically

         22  engaged, what it means to be a good citizen. And

         23  it's all of these things. You know, it's not just

         24  the six hours, it's the basketball game that you go

         25  to and you cheer for your school and your
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          2  neighborhood and your peers.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: The full

          4  experience.

          5                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Yes,

          6  absolutely. It has to be a whole experience.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Well, thank

          8  you for your efforts, Mr. Borough President. Thank

          9  you for your time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. And

         11  Mr. Borough President, I look forward to asking our

         12  former gang member about the communication between

         13  cells. That is a very interesting question.

         14                 I would also like to thank my fellow

         15  Council members. I can't remember a hearing that

         16  we've had better than perfect attendance, because

         17  we've had Council Member from other committees come

         18  by, and that just shows the depth of concern here

         19  over this very important issue. Or perhaps they

         20  heard you were coming down --

         21                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: I doubt

         22  that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: -- And wanted to

         24  welcome you back. But more likely the concern over

         25  the gang issue. And we also thank you for coming
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          2  down today and making time out of your busy schedule

          3  and sharing your expertise with us. We thank you for

          4  your leadership in this field, and we, as a body,

          5  look forward to working with you to craft whatever

          6  laws you may deem necessary and give you whatever

          7  help you need funding-wise or whatever to continue

          8  to combat this problem, or work with you in whatever

          9  other endeavor you may decide to pursue. Thank you.

         10                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT CARRION: Mr.

         11  Chairman, thank you. And thank you for your

         12  generosity of time today.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Our next witness

         14  will be Chauncey Parker.

         15                 Just Jimmy Oddo has one more thing to

         16  say. Sorry.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Borough

         18  President mentioned 1969, I just wanted to remind

         19  him who won the World Series in 1969.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Very funny.

         21  Sorry about that.

         22                 Mr. Parker, thank you very much for

         23  coming down here today to share with us your

         24  expertise. Now that you've had to wait and we

         25  apologize for that, but it's an important issue and
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          2  it went on a little bit longer than we expected, so

          3  thank you for your patience and look forward to

          4  hearing from you.

          5                 Hello.

          6                 MR. PARKER: It's my pleasure to be

          7  here, and it's actually a great opportunity to hear

          8  the different perspectives from different leaders in

          9  the City.

         10                 I have submitted written testimony,

         11  Mr. Chairman, but what I would like to do is

         12  summarize that and give you some observations from

         13  the State's perspective about this issue and then be

         14  available to answer any specific questions.

         15                 I think we come out of the State

         16  exactly what we've all learned from the NYPD, which

         17  is that whatever you do in crime fighting, it should

         18  be driven toward a bottom line, and the bottom line

         19  is the bottom line which is most important in

         20  government, which is protecting people, and that you

         21  need to use crime statistics, timely, accurate,

         22  COMSTAT like crime statistics, to drive your

         23  strategy to be most effective.

         24                 And that when you do that, you

         25  realize that whether it's a robbery problem or it's
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          2  an assault problem or any other challenge in

          3  criminal justice, it's not 100, if you have 100

          4  robberies, it's not 100 robbers committing 100

          5  robberies, it's, often times it's a small group of

          6  people committing an awful lot of pain and suffering

          7  for communities. And it's something that I saw and

          8  that I know you as a former Assistant DA, you see

          9  that in some sense on the front lines with law

         10  enforcement, for me it was the gangs in Chinatown,

         11  and to see if particularly it was the food chain

         12  gang, and to see that this one gang, although if you

         13  look at the crime statistics, you see all the

         14  robberies and the murderers and the extortion and

         15  everything that's going on along Alder Street, but

         16  once that gang is actually taken out, then you all

         17  of a sudden see a plummet. So, if we're smarter in

         18  criminal justice, if we're smarter in our

         19  enforcement decisions and in overall strategy, we

         20  can be more effective in getting after the bottom

         21  line. And I think that's really what we've learned

         22  from the NYPD. And you go to COMSTAT and you see the

         23  way they're so driven toward this bottom line,

         24  they're more effective. There are three examples of

         25  what we're doing at the State, which I think come at
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          2  this issue of crime reduction from three different

          3  perspectives. One is our overall crime strategy

          4  which is to convert, and this is much more of a

          5  challenge outside of New York City, but to convert

          6  law enforcement to intelligence-driven operations,

          7  through intelligence-drive enforcement, rather than

          8  respond to the 9-1-1.

          9                 Second is to try innovative

         10  strategies like Operation CeaseFire, which David

         11  Kennedy from John Jay started up in Boston and we've

         12  piloted that and implemented that in places like

         13  Rochester, Nassau County. But it's to really kind of

         14  understand the crime problem and in particular when

         15  it comes to gang violence and how much of it is

         16  something that you can impact the decisions that

         17  people make if you can handle it with a focused,

         18  direct approach.

         19                 And then the third is prevention.

         20  I'll just mention it to the Borough President, of

         21  one, I think one of the most effective sort of

         22  models which we just were able to implement, and

         23  maybe I'll start there, is that we are able to use,

         24  to convert the Harlem Armory, which is on 142nd

         25  Street and Fifth Avenue, the 369th regimen, 50,000
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          2  square foot drill floor, 3,000-seat space into a

          3  sports center which just opened with the Mayor, the

          4  Governor and other, Congressman Rengal, good leaders

          5  were there, and turned that into a sports center

          6  with the idea that it's really like the Field of

          7  Dreams, that if you take, if you build it these kids

          8  will come. And it has to be a place that says US

          9  Open, quality tennis courts, rock climbing walls, a

         10  broadcasting studio there for kids to learn how to

         11  be radio announcers or television announcers. But

         12  that's got to be part of the strategy, if we're

         13  looking at the crime reduction model, the COMSTAT

         14  model, if we know that most of the crime that kids

         15  commit is after school and before dinner, then it

         16  makes sense that you would provide opportunities for

         17  them to go during those hours in constructive,

         18  productive activities.

         19                 So, that's just one, I think one very

         20  successful model that was just implemented.

         21                 But let me talk a little bit about

         22  our overall strategy and what I think is most

         23  important from an intelligence perspective.

         24                 We believe that intelligence-driven

         25  policing is the platform for 21st century policing.
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          2  And so as part of grants now from the State, we

          3  require three conditions. Now, I'm going to talk a

          4  little about jurisdictions. I really see the state

          5  in two areas. New York City is really our model, and

          6  we have other jurisdictions which are very

          7  effective, but they're completely different, they

          8  don't have the same dynamics. But it is important

          9  what's happening in Hempstead for Queens, it is

         10  important what's happening in Yonkers for the Bronx.

         11  It's really important since crime is so

         12  cross-jurisdictional now.

         13                 What we make now, is we have three

         14  requirements now of funding that come through

         15  criminal justice, one is in order to get the

         16  funding, people have to report their crime

         17  statistics on a monthly basis. That's nothing new

         18  for the NYPD, because they reported on a daily

         19  basis, but how are we going to be as smart as

         20  possible with our decisions if we don't get crime

         21  statistics on a timely, accurate way that you can

         22  map and you can see where your problems are and

         23  direct your strategies to it.

         24                 Two, it's absolutely critical that

         25  people share information across agency lines. It
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          2  started, it existed for 30 years in New York City, a

          3  system called DECS, but it's the Drug Enforcement

          4  Coordination System where in drug efforts, we don't

          5  want to have undercovers, and officers going to the

          6  same location at the same time, so there was a

          7  program set up where people, law enforcement would

          8  put the targets of their investigation into a

          9  central database so you could make sure you're not

         10  going to the same place at the same time. This is

         11  now a Statewide system. So, whether it's in Buffalo,

         12  or it's in New York City or in Suffolk County, law

         13  enforcement is now putting the target of their

         14  criminal investigations into a central database, and

         15  you know what happens? You find out that Buffalo is

         16  connected to New York City. You find out that

         17  Syracuse is connected to Utica, and that is

         18  absolutely critical, as this seemless --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Especially if

         20  you happen to have DNA.

         21                 MR. PARKER: Well, DNA, I mean, we're

         22  looking at how -- and I appreciate your leadership

         23  on this and you've been fighting for this and played

         24  a major role in actually getting us to where we --

         25  we're not 100 percent there, but we were able to
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          2  quadruple the size of the DNA databank. But talk

          3  about just common sense, if the average time we get

          4  a hit on a DNA databank, on average that person has

          5  been convicted of five prior crimes, if we can only

          6  get their DNA after the first conviction, we are

          7  able to solve all of those crimes after another. So,

          8  that's all part of smarter policing and sharing of

          9  information.

         10                 And then the third condition of our

         11  funding is that federal, state and law enforcement

         12  have to work together. They have to set up task

         13  forces in these jurisdictions. So, that becomes the

         14  foundation of it. So, that's the first part of what

         15  we do in criminal justice and what we call into each

         16  of these, and, again, this is a model developed from

         17  NYPD, you heard the Chief talk about an FIO, a Field

         18  Intelligence Officer, it's really such a great idea.

         19  NYPD set up almost like a zone defense for Intel,

         20  where every precinct has one person who is fully

         21  dedicated to collecting intelligence. And then

         22  you're able to connect the dots, but not in the

         23  heads or in the file cabinets of various officers.

         24  One person is responsible for connecting the dots,

         25  and if you have it in all 98 precincts, you have the
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          2  entire City covered. If somebody in 109 has

          3  something that hits against the 32 or another

          4  precinct, you can connect the dots.

          5                 We set up that same model every

          6  precinct, every Police Department, the 17 major

          7  departments outside of New York City have FIOs. In

          8  fact, we call these teams ICATs, Intelligence Crime

          9  Analysis Teams, and the central part of that is to

         10  have a field intelligence officer. And what we do

         11  with the funding is say you have to hire a full-time

         12  field intelligence officer, so that when there is a

         13  hit with Buffalo, a case in Buffalo and New York

         14  City, there are direct points of contact you can

         15  talk to about this investigation.

         16                 The second thing that I think we're

         17  doing, which I think is innovative, and I think the

         18  best person to talk to about this is David Kennedy

         19  from John Jay, because Operation CeaseFire and what

         20  he's done with gangs. And if you look at what his --

         21  has David Kennedy come and spoken to you? Have you

         22  all talked to him? He's very bright, very

         23  interesting professor, comes from the Kennedy School

         24  and was recruited and heads the crime control

         25  strategy center for John Jay, and he's in the paper
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          2  today in the New York Times talking about really

          3  what makes New York City so special is that they

          4  don't look at crime as inevitable, and that they

          5  actually realize and believe that it's something

          6  that they control and that's in some sense a secret

          7  to their success.

          8                 He established a model called

          9  CeaseFire, and what CeaseFire does is it tries to

         10  get behind why people are committing crimes. He sees

         11  that this gang violence, so much of it, I mean all

         12  violence is senseless, again violence is in a

         13  special category where people are slashing each

         14  other in the face, or in Suffolk County they were

         15  just telling me two days ago there's a thing called

         16  bonking where game members as a ritual take an

         17  aluminum bat and walk down the street and hit

         18  somebody in the head because it makes a boinking

         19  sound.

         20                 So, it's all senseless but this

         21  really is in a special category, and so what David

         22  Kennedy has done through CeaseFire is he tries to

         23  get behind it and say, now, what do we do, if we're

         24  going to attack this problem from a prevention and

         25  intervention perspective, an enforcement
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          2  perspective, what can we do.

          3                 So, this is the model that he set up

          4  in Rochester, what he developed in Boston, and what

          5  it is is they realize that they know, both of your

          6  gang members are under supervision or probation or

          7  parole, in I think any City, whether it is New York

          8  City or it's Hempstead or it's Buffalo, usually

          9  they're under the supervision of probation or

         10  parole, which is very important because we know who

         11  they are and we have levers over what they do. There

         12  are consequences if you violate parole, there are

         13  consequences if you violate probation. So, if you

         14  know who they are, then maybe we can be more

         15  effective at deterring their behavior.

         16                 So what they did in Rochester under

         17  Chief Duffy, now Mayor Duffy, is that they brought

         18  in various members from these different gangs who

         19  are under the supervision of parole and probation,

         20  and they're allowed to do it because they're under

         21  supervision, they brought them in and they had the

         22  US Attorney, they had the District Attorney, they

         23  had the Chief, they had all those, and they brought

         24  them into a room like this and they said here is the

         25  situation. We know who you are. We know you're part
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          2  of the Crips, we know you're part of the Bloods, we

          3  know you're part of the Netas, you're MS13, it's no

          4  secret. What we can't do in law enforcement is we

          5  can't dismantle, we can't target, you know, 15 gangs

          6  at the same time. The one thing we can do in law

          7  enforcement, is if we ever drop everything and focus

          8  on one in particular, we can be enormously

          9  effective. So, here's the new rule in Rochester,

         10  you've got to stop shooting each other. Shooting

         11  each other, murders are going to be at the top of

         12  the list, they're absolutely unacceptable, this is

         13  with Chief Duffy, absolutely unacceptable and here

         14  is what is going to be the consequences. The next

         15  time a young person is killed, part of a gang,

         16  battle, incident, whatever, you are going to be the

         17  center of our attention. You see who we have here at

         18  the table, Probation, Parole, that's the FBI, the

         19  DEA, the ATF, every single crime fighter in this

         20  city and we are going to be focusing on you and use

         21  the complete power.

         22                 Now, if you do it, you're going to be

         23  in our spotlight and you will be the number one

         24  target. Now, let me tell you at the same time,

         25  because it can't just enforcement, is we're going to

                                                            101

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  leave the room and I want you to know that there is

          3  this other group here called Pathways To Peace, and

          4  what they have is they have jobs for kids, they have

          5  alternatives for kids, they know about after school

          6  programs for kids, there's all sorts of other

          7  things, there are all these different things that

          8  you can do.

          9                 So, there's another way and it can't

         10  be just the hammer, it has to be this other course.

         11  I want you to know that that's available to you. But

         12  know that we really are serious, next time somebody

         13  is killed this will be it.

         14                 So, sure enough within the next month

         15  somebody was killed. They brought everybody back in.

         16  They said, this is unacceptable. Then spent the next

         17  several months, they targeted the gang that was

         18  responsible, arrested a whole bunch of people,

         19  people served huge sentences, brought the same

         20  people back into the room who were in there in the

         21  beginning and said, I'm not kidding, this is going

         22  to be the new rule. And it's a little bit on a much

         23  more dramatic scale, but it's a little bit like the

         24  broken window theory that you actually can deter

         25  crime from very specific and strategic decisions.
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          2                 And they found, in the year that they

          3  did this, they found a huge drop, 38 percent drop in

          4  their murders in Rochester.

          5                 Now, the problem is, how do you

          6  sustain it? And they've had a spike in murders in

          7  Rochester in the last year, so it's a constant

          8  battle.

          9                 But I think why I focus on this and

         10  why I mention and underline it, one is there's a

         11  resource that you have in New York City, one of the

         12  preeminent experts, and it is something that gets to

         13  sort of try to get behind it that we can sort of

         14  figure out what is it that influences white people,

         15  and what they found in this particular with

         16  CeaseFire is that a lot of the violence, when they

         17  started to interview the people who were involved in

         18  it, either the gang members who had now been

         19  arrested, found that a lot of the violence was that

         20  it was, a lot of gang violence is built on peer

         21  pressure, and that it's people believing that I have

         22  to do this, it's part of an initiation, I have to

         23  slash this person as part of this, this person

         24  dissed me and therefore I have to be violent, and

         25  that this gave the idea that there was now this very
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          2  clear incentive not to do that because the whole

          3  gang is now going to be responsible if one person is

          4  committing an act of violence became a deterrent.

          5                 Now, I only mention, is there some

          6  kind of outside the box, it does work, it doesn't

          7  work? We should be constantly pushing the envelope

          8  to try to figure what gets to that bottom line of

          9  reducing the violence in these communities.

         10                 So, that's really kind of a snapshot

         11  of where we are. Our fundamental belief is an

         12  intelligence driven, policing is the most important

         13  that we can do. We've got to connect the dots,

         14  whether it's through DNA, as you say, Mr. Chairman,

         15  or it's through connecting the dots through targets

         16  and investigations across jurisdictional lines.

         17                 We have to think creatively about

         18  crime-fighting strategies, whether it's CeaseFire or

         19  anything else.

         20                 And third, we have to provide

         21  positive, effective alternatives like the Harlem

         22  Armory Center for kids to go after school so that

         23  there's a positive place to go, echoing really what

         24  the Borough President had said.

         25                 Thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  talk. I would be happy to answer any questions.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Sure. Again,

          4  thank you.

          5                 Mr. Parker, you started out by saying

          6  100 robberies don't mean 100 people, doesn't mean

          7  100 people committed them, and, you know, most

          8  people who haven't been involved in law enforcement

          9  don't understand that. Perhaps there's a few people

         10  who have committed those robberies, it's the same

         11  people who commit the crimes over and over again.

         12  When you put them in jail for a long period of time,

         13  crime goes down.

         14                 Gang members commit many small

         15  crimes, and many times can commit, you know, ten, 20

         16  of them before ever seeing jail time because they're

         17  misdemeanors.

         18                 You put in an excellent bill, which

         19  if I remember correctly provides that if you commit

         20  three misdemeanors in a certain period of time, I

         21  believe it was ten years, there is mandatory jail

         22  time involved, and I wanted to ask you what progress

         23  has been made with that bill? Because I have a

         24  resolution supporting it, I believe.

         25                 MR. PARKER: Yes, I think that bill,
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          2  as far as I know, hasn't been voted on by the

          3  legislature. It's a bill to intervene earlier that

          4  after a repeat misdemeanor offenders, you've got to

          5  nip it at the bud.

          6                 I think a program that they've set up

          7  in the City which require changing the laws is a

          8  really good model is Operation Spotlight, which is

          9  anybody who is, as I understand it, anybody who is

         10  convicted of a misdemeanor three times in a 12-month

         11  period, the Spotlight, and we work with them to put

         12  this on the criminal history.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Your actual

         14  testimony, it was just pointed out to me, had it in

         15  here, and it says that the Senate passed the bill in

         16  May of 2006 but the Assembly never had a chance to

         17  vote on it because the bill remains in the Assembly

         18  Codes Committee.

         19                 I think Council Member Oddo once said

         20  it best, the Assembly is where good pieces of

         21  criminal legislation go to die, something along

         22  those lines? Graveyard of common sense. That's why

         23  we're glad to have Jim Oddo on this Committee now.

         24                 Council Member had a question, Mr.

         25  Gennaro.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chairman.

          4                 I just really wanted to, going beyond

          5  the scope of this hearing, I just wanted to thank

          6  Mr. Parker in a special way. We had an opportunity

          7  to work together with regard to the death of one of

          8  my constituents in a tragic drunk driving incident,

          9  and how Mr. Parker was able to work with the family

         10  and work with me, and work with the State

         11  Legislature to ultimately get some level of common

         12  sense to prevail in that situation. And I've been

         13  aware of your efforts through the Chairman and

         14  through my service on this Committee, and I want to

         15  thank you in a special way for all of the things

         16  that you've done, you know, large and small, to

         17  bring your common sense law enforcement to our

         18  State. So, I know you've been on the job a long

         19  time, and I don't know what you're going to be doing

         20  after the Pataki Administration, and I just thought

         21  I'd take this opportunity to just thank you for all

         22  of the good service that you've given the people of

         23  the State.

         24                 MR. PARKER: Thank you very much. It's

         25  been my honor to have this opportunity.

                                                            107

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Do you have any

          3  recommendations as to what we can do here at City

          4  Council level to either assist you or do on our own

          5  that might help you combat this problem?

          6                 MR. PARKER: You know, I really do

          7  think, echoing what the Council Member said, I think

          8  that there are some really common sense things that

          9  can be done that really -- there are going to be

         10  horrible things that happen in crime fighting that

         11  we can't prevent. I think there are very few that

         12  you want to do everything you can, but really it's

         13  unforgivable, we don't take every step we can to

         14  protect people. And I think, for example, and I

         15  know, Chairman, we worked together on the DNA bill

         16  and we haven't gotten the all crimes DNA bill,

         17  there's absolutely no reason why we don't have an

         18  all crimes DNA bill in this State. And there is no

         19  doubt that we're going to get it. This is supported,

         20  it passed 61 to 1 in the Senate seven years in a

         21  row. It has the support of everyone from Mayor

         22  Bloomberg to Mayor Brown to Attorney General

         23  Spitzer.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Which specific

         25  measure are you speaking about that has the support?
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          2                 MR. PARKER: This is the all crimes

          3  DNA bill. So we are able to, and it's fantastic that

          4  we're able to get what we got done in June and

          5  quadruple the size of the DNA databank, but we know

          6  this is the fingerprint of the 21st century. We know

          7  that it convicts people, it solves crimes, prevent

          8  crimes. We also know it's the best tool we have to

          9  exonerate people, so why in the world are we not

         10  taking full advantage of this?

         11                 So, I think that way it would put it

         12  at the top of the list as something, and, you know,

         13  whether it's gang violence or any other kind of

         14  violence in our cities, we need to take every step

         15  we can to protect people. So, I think it's to focus

         16  on those. Try to build the bridge, and I think often

         17  it's the case of getting the Assembly at least to

         18  vote on it, if they're going to vote against it,

         19  vote against it, but at least vote on it.

         20                 Because when, like the DNA bill, it

         21  wasn't voted on for seven years, when they voted on

         22  it, I think the vote was 138 to nothing. So, vote on

         23  it. So, I think the same thing with each of these

         24  bills, is to just, we really agree on the overlap of

         25  where we agree in criminal justice, where
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          2  Republicans, Democrats, Liberals or conservatives,

          3  just never think of it in that issue. If this is an

          4  enormous circle where we all agree, let's pass that

          5  legislation and do what we can knowing that even

          6  still we're not going to be able to protect

          7  everyone.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Chauncey, you

          9  were with the Manhattan DA's office at what time?

         10                 MR. PARKER: We started together in

         11  '86. I was there for five years and then ten years

         12  with the US Attorney's Office.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I would like to

         14  welcome a new staff member to our City Council, who

         15  was also a member of the Manhattan DA's Office, came

         16  in at '93, so right after we had left, so this is

         17  where women Manhattan Assistants go, perhaps not to

         18  die hopefully, but to get things --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Three years from

         20  now.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Three years from

         22  now.

         23                 Mr. Parker, again, we thank you for

         24  coming all the way down here, and for waiting

         25  around. It's been very helpful.
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          2                 MR. PARKER: It's been my pleasure.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We look forward

          4  to working with you on a continuous basis. We have

          5  many more hearings coming up on this and other

          6  topics, and you're always welcome.

          7                 MR. PARKER: Okay, thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

          9                 And finally, we are now going to get

         10  to Gerard Griffin from Daytop Village, along with

         11  David Wingate.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Griffin, for waiting

         13  all this time, but I know you've been here before

         14  and you've always given us good information, and

         15  sometimes I'd like to -- we were able to put your

         16  testimony on first but that's just not the way it's

         17  happened.  There are agencies that have

         18  relationships where they have certain time periods

         19  they need to testify, but yours is perhaps the most

         20  important. So, we thank you for waiting around, both

         21  of you, look forward to your testimony.

         22                 MR. GRIFFIN: Good afternoon. And

         23  first and foremost I'd like to say thank you all for

         24  having Daytop Village present.

         25                 Secondly, I would like to begin with,
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          2  and I passed out the information, "The Bloods,

          3  Crips, And Kids:  Gangs Stake Out Queens Turf."

          4                 Peddling the chance to belong and to

          5  be accepted with the forbidden thrill of graffiti --

          6  and having had the opportunity to personally work

          7  with Peter Vallone, Sr., in Graffiti Clean-Up many

          8  years ago, we targeted graffiti clean-up in Astoria.

          9                 The thrill of graffiti, New York City

         10  gangs are moving into Queens, into Queens immediate

         11  (sic) and high schools in search of a new life and a

         12  sense of belonging.

         13                 Gangs such as the Bloods, Latin

         14  Kings, Crips, Los Vatos Locos, the Mexican Boys, the

         15  Netas, and Zulu Nation, as of last week, Monday, the

         16  total membership is 2,500, as reported by statistics

         17  that I do not have.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's total

         19  membership in Queens or in New York City?

         20                 MR. GRIFFIN: In Queens.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Two-thousand

         22  five-hundred?

         23                 MR. GRIFFIN: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And how many

         25  gangs did you mention, three or four?
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          2                 MR. GRIFFIN: I mentioned one, two --

          3  six.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Six, okay.

          5                 MR. GRIFFIN: Where do they come from?

          6  Queens gangbusters, -- busting cops, told the

          7  Tribune that many young gang members are recruited

          8  while they're behind bars. New gang members are

          9  often affiliated with graffiti gangs and have been

         10  arrested for tagging and quality of life offenses,

         11  police have said.

         12                 The teen recruits are often spotted

         13  by hardened gang members on Rikers Island who prey

         14  on youth that come from unsuitable family

         15  situations, and that's probably what Daytop really

         16  looks at is the family system itself, because we see

         17  a lot of issues when individuals are not involved

         18  with their children.

         19                 So, we see them go astray. Eager to

         20  fit in, the teens are easily educated by all the

         21  gang members and once back on the streets the

         22  recruits head back to school, not to get an

         23  education, but to give other teens education in a

         24  life of gangland Queens.

         25                 And if you think gangs recruit only
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          2  in high schools, think again. Police said gang

          3  recruits are prevalent in middle school, junior high

          4  school, playgrounds, as young as ten years old.

          5                 As you may already know, the gangs

          6  are not prevalent just in low economical areas. They

          7  are also in affluent areas in Queens.

          8                 So, we look at, for argument's sake,

          9  Jamaica, and we look at Forest Hills. There are

         10  gangs in both areas. And Daytop is actually on

         11  Jamaica Avenue, so the major high school is Jamaica

         12  High School, the major police precinct is the 103.

         13                 So, we see a lot of individuals who

         14  have been involved over the years, and it's really a

         15  sense of belonging because they say that their

         16  parents or their peers or someone else, they feel

         17  they need to belong.

         18                 And I think that a more proactive

         19  approach to what needs to occur is really the issue,

         20  and I've heard several different solutions, so if we

         21  put them all together, we can then proceed, because

         22  it is felt that each agency is doing something

         23  different.

         24                 Where I may view gang activity and

         25  not play into it, but talking about the behavioral
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          2  aspect, law enforcement talked about the criminal

          3  aspect, and we just need to really get a grasp on

          4  it.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Mr. Griffin, for

          6  those who don't know, just explain who you are and

          7  what you do.

          8                 MR. GRIFFIN: I am the Director of

          9  Daytop Village. We are the oldest and largest drug

         10  treatment program in the United States, established

         11  in 1963 by Monsignor O'Brien. And we treat drug

         12  addiction and a number of other things. We also have

         13  a Board of Education involved in our adolescent

         14  services.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Why don't you

         16  introduce who you brought down today and tell us a

         17  little bit about him.

         18                 MR. GRIFFIN: Okay.

         19                 Mr. Wingate is a former gang member,

         20  and currently a staff member at Adolescent Services

         21  in Daytop, Queens.

         22                 So, I give you Mr. Wingate.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Mr. Wingate,

         24  thank you very much for coming down today. I know

         25  you had to wait around a long time. Unlike many of
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          2  us this isn't your job, either of you, so thank you

          3  for both waiting around, and we look forward to

          4  hearing what you have to say.

          5                 MR. WINGATE: I thank you, Mr.

          6  Speaker, and I thank the City Council for having us.

          7                 I have my prepared text, and while I

          8  am going to read from it, I just want to offer the

          9  fact that I've heard a lot here today, a lot that is

         10  definitely positive, and I'm quite sure a lot that I

         11  would like to respond to, whether time permits or

         12  not, or if the questions come out, I would be happy,

         13  more than happy to speak about it.

         14                 To start with, my name is David

         15  Wingate, capable of error and capable of change. My

         16  involvement with gangs and the street culture

         17  initially came through my attempts to extricate

         18  individuals from the gang lifestyle.

         19                 It was an attempt on my part to put

         20  an end to the senseless violence that I was

         21  witnessing in the mid- to late-1990s while

         22  incarcerated in the New York State prison system,

         23  where I literally witnessed individuals lose blood,

         24  body parts and in a few isolated cases lose their

         25  lives.
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          2                 My extrication from the street

          3  culture came about as a result of the college

          4  education that I received while incarcerated prior

          5  to the abolishment of the prison college programs in

          6  1995.

          7                 Couple academic education with the

          8  spiritual upliftment and moral education I received

          9  through the teachings of Islam and my exodus from

         10  the street culture was complete.

         11                 I state here, however, that I have

         12  returned to my roots. Today I'm back in college and

         13  I now work with at-risk adolescents, not all of them

         14  poor, not all from single-parent households, not all

         15  are hard-core drug addicts and certainly, not all of

         16  them are gang members. However, they are all

         17  definitely at risk.

         18                 I speak to you today as a concerned

         19  citizen, and as a counselor working in the field of

         20  chemical dependence. And as I stated earlier, it is

         21  truly an honor to testify before this Council today.

         22                 However, I did not come just to make

         23  a speech, to lecture you. I came to make an

         24  impassioned plea for your help to help these

         25  children, to help our children. Education, both
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          2  academic and moral is, in my humble opinion, two of

          3  the keys that will aid us in our quest to eradicate

          4  gangs and gang activities.

          5                 But I caution you as I caution those

          6  who have now left the room, to remember that we are

          7  not speaking about Al Qaeda or some paramilitary

          8  organization. We are talking about street gangs.

          9  Some of them, yes, some of them are definitely

         10  organized. But we're actually speaking about our

         11  children, our sons and our daughters. And just like

         12  David Wingate, I believe that they're all capable of

         13  error and therefore they're also capable of change.

         14                 I heard a lot earlier, and one of the

         15  things that I heard about was youth curfews, and to

         16  be honest, I don't know whether or not they would

         17  fully work, because kids are going to do what kids

         18  are going to do. From time immemorable (sic) kids

         19  are going to sneak out the window and go down the

         20  block and meet Jonny and meet Peter and Raheem and

         21  so forth. The law enforcement pick-up of these

         22  children at, you know, after curfew hours, is really

         23  just going to put a continued strain on the Police

         24  Department when they could be probably doing better

         25  work at that particular time. This is only in my
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          2  opinion.

          3                 I was hearing earlier about the

          4  systemic social problems associated with gang

          5  members. I heard Mr. Griffin just speak about this,

          6  and although I didn't show him my notes, in my

          7  estimation, the basic problem with these kids is a

          8  misguided recognition and respect. They want

          9  recognition and respect, but don't know how to go

         10  about getting it.

         11                 There is a sense of belonging that

         12  most of these kids don't have, and there's a

         13  breakdown in the family system and breakdown in

         14  family values. Babies having babies. Kids cannot

         15  teach their kids values. Often times they don't. The

         16  mothers and the fathers don't have the values

         17  instilled in themselves. So, I turn back to

         18  education, moral education in particular, for the

         19  majority of these kids.

         20                 I heard something about graffiti and

         21  gang-related graffiti. Twenty years ago I was a

         22  serious graffiti writer in New York City. A menace

         23  to New York City. And I was pleasantly surprised

         24  when I came out and I saw that the subway system was

         25  clean, and almost all of the streets. I mean,
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          2  literally clean, cleared of graffiti. I applaud the

          3  City Council and everyone in their efforts. One

          4  thing that I recognize is even with the graffiti

          5  that I see today, most of it is not gang related.

          6  This is an outreach. Kids want fame. This is what we

          7  wanted. This is what we wanted then, this is what

          8  kids want now.

          9                 I know that because I'm still

         10  affiliated with Crane Street Studios in Long Island

         11  City. I go there and I see the kids, most of them

         12  are not gang members, they just want some fame.

         13  These are our modern day urban Picassos.

         14  Unfortunately they're destroying a lot of things in

         15  the process.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Without any

         17  talent.

         18                 MR. WINGATE: Yes, without any talent,

         19  quite often.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me just say

         21  I couldn't agree with you more on everything you

         22  just said, not only on graffiti, but before that.

         23  With specifically about graffiti, I've said in many

         24  places, and people look at me like I'm crazy, that

         25  it's not about art, it's much about gangs. But most
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          2  of it, as you said, is kids seeking notoriety, and

          3  this is the way they go about doing it. And not many

          4  people understand that, and I'm very thankful you're

          5  here today, just from your perspective to say that.

          6                 You also said you wanted the people

          7  who left the room, and that's unfortunate to hear

          8  what you have to say, and I wanted to thank Channel

          9  74 for being here especially, I think that's News

         10  12, for staying for this entire hearing, and getting

         11  out what you have to say. So other people will get

         12  to hear this and it will go on the official record.

         13                 I know you're not done but just begin

         14  the question and answer and you can continue.

         15                 How did your involvement with gangs

         16  begin?

         17                 MR. WINGATE: The streets itself,

         18  partially through graffiti, partially through just

         19  wanting to be down, that sense of belonging, and the

         20  real gang involvement for myself happened after I

         21  was incarcerated. I became what is known as "folks,"

         22  friends to Bloods, friends to Crips, friends to

         23  Netas, Latin Kings, anyone there.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You said you

         25  became what is known as what?
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          2                 MR. WINGATE: Folks, f-o-l-k-s. Good

          3  folks.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Gotcha.

          5                 MR. WINGATE: We are more than just

          6  associates. At the time I was more folks to Blood

          7  than anything else that was there. It was an effort

          8  on my part. There were a lot of kids that were

          9  coming through the system, Rikers Island, once they

         10  got Upstate, all the problems that they had on

         11  Rikers Island followed them. They may have thought

         12  that it was over, but once they got Upstate, it

         13  followed them.

         14                 The Latin Kings were already firmly

         15  entrenched inside the New York State prison system.

         16  When the young black kids got up there, they found

         17  themselves outmanned, outgunned, and they had

         18  nowhere to turn.

         19                 At the time, 1995, we began to see a

         20  lot of kids getting cut, and we didn't understand

         21  it. So, we started investigating, making some moves

         22  and speaking to people, and we wound up speaking to

         23  the number ones, the inkas (sic), of the Latin Kings

         24  or the Netas organizations. They let us know, this

         25  is the reason why these things happened.
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          2                 Initially we began by protecting

          3  these Bloods. Only because we were like, listen,

          4  these guys are outmanned, outgunned, what are you

          5  doing?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: When you say

          7  we're protecting, you're speaking about who?

          8                 MR. WINGATE: I'm speaking about older

          9  guys that had gotten out of gangs, I'm speaking

         10  about the Muslims, I'm speaking about the five

         11  percenters that were in the system. And to be

         12  honest, it was a reaction from Department of

         13  Corrections' staff because they would put the

         14  pressure on us to keep peace in the dorms, to keep

         15  peace in the housing unit.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Before we get to

         17  that, your involvement started as folks.

         18                 MR. WINGATE: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And then became

         20  what? And how did you eventually get out of it and

         21  become what you were, trying to help people?

         22                 MR. WINGATE: Okay. From folks, I

         23  never became a full Blood, and that was because I

         24  refused to cut the people that they wanted me to

         25  cut. To be honest, they wanted me to hit staff
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          2  because I was one of the people in the prison system

          3  that I really didn't care at one time.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Recruited inside

          5  the prison system?

          6                 MR. WINGATE: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

          8                 MR. WINGATE: And the object was for

          9  me to cut an officer, and I refused, and actually I

         10  began to rebel against the whole gang mentality and

         11  those that were in the system at that time.

         12                 I felt that one of the best ways that

         13  I could get at them was to start pulling people from

         14  them, and that led to me networking with a lot of

         15  the other people that were in the prison system,

         16  including staff. And I would have to say that a lot

         17  of the Department of Correction staffs where I was

         18  at, in particular in Orleans, they worked with us

         19  hand-in-hand extricating these younger members from

         20  the clutches of gang activity inside of the system.

         21                 We didn't get them all. Definitely

         22  not. We paid for some. Some were extracted by

         23  violent means. A lot of them received transfers to

         24  other prisons, but that did not stop the violence

         25  that they eventually had to deal with.
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          2                 After I came out of prison I had made

          3  it my business, I wanted to continue in this work.

          4  And one thing that I recognized is that there is a

          5  definite connection between substance abuse and gang

          6  activity.

          7                 I went to school. I signed up at

          8  Metropolitan College, and one of the things that we

          9  were in charge of was finding an internship. And I

         10  looked up and I saw Daytop and I did realize that it

         11  was one of the biggest, definitely the oldest

         12  substance abuse treatment center in the country. And

         13  I walked in, and fortunately I ran into a veteran. I

         14  mean, what better luck could I have? I mean, the man

         15  has over 30 years in the field of chemical

         16  dependence, and he definitely understands these

         17  kids. And as a result I am now employed at Daytop

         18  Village, an adolescent counselor, and looking to do

         19  this work.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: As I said, this

         21  is perhaps the most useful testimony we have

         22  received all day. And Mr. Griffin, I think Mr.

         23  Wingate is testament to the work you've done for so

         24  long now.

         25                 MR. GRIFFIN: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Even probably

          3  before my father was in the business, I don't know.

          4  But unfortunately, there aren't any questions, but I

          5  have so many, but I know you've been here all day.

          6                 Let me leave with both of you giving

          7  a chance to tell us what we can do here, or what you

          8  see we can do here to assist you or to help in this

          9  situation?

         10                 MR. WINGATE: One of the things that I

         11  would love to see, I heard the gentleman from New

         12  York State, the last speaker, speak about Pathways

         13  To Peace. There must be some type of programs,

         14  preventative programs, and programs of an educative

         15  nature that these youths can be channeled into when

         16  they come off of Rikers Island and when they come

         17  out of the State Corrections. There is no doubt that

         18  they're being recruited, how would I say it, in

         19  leaps and bounds in the prison system, point blank.

         20  But there is also no doubt that they're being

         21  recruited out here in the middle schools and in the

         22  Daytops, because we had a kid that we had to get rid

         23  of because of his recruitment efforts.

         24                 If there aren't social programs put

         25  in place, then we have to ask ourselves, what are
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          2  the alternatives. We can lock up as many kids as we

          3  want, but one day they're going to come out and more

          4  than likely exponentially more dangerous than they

          5  were when they went in.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me give you

          7  some good news to take home. You probably know, I'm

          8  sure Mr. Griffin does, that the Council has been the

          9  leader in funding Alternatives to Incarceration and

         10  things of that nature. But this year's budget we

         11  were successful in getting over $2 million, which we

         12  were working this morning, we'll be working the next

         13  couple of weeks, which will go solely to community

         14  work to prevent gangs from recruiting and to help

         15  kids have alternatives to gangs and things like

         16  that. So, we have $2 million, and I look forward to

         17  working with you, actually, to determine some groups

         18  that might be able to use this money wisely. So,

         19  please contact our staff today so we can work with

         20  you on this. But that is some good news that comes

         21  out of listening to people like you tell us your

         22  stories.

         23                 MR. GRIFFIN: Mr. Councilman, I

         24  honestly think that that was probably one of the

         25  most rewarding statements that I heard today about
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          2  social programs becoming involved in that we're not

          3  separate and apart, but that if we, again, take the

          4  proactive approach and include individuals who were

          5  going to take action, prior to a 9-1-1 call, then we

          6  are going to get a productive citizen. Should we get

          7  the 9-1-1 call thereafter then we know we have the

          8  tape, we already know what's going to happen.

          9                 So, if we're doing this, then it's

         10  going to work. And we have to put it all together,

         11  but it has to happen and has to happen quickly. Too

         12  much has taken place since our last meeting three

         13  years ago, because upon Jamaica Avenue there is a

         14  strong police presence and things could change.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I keep saying

         16  last question, but you have so much knowledge. This

         17  will hopefully be the last question. In your

         18  experience, I guess Mr. Carter, since you've been

         19  out there longer, you say things have changed; how

         20  do you see our present situation involving gangs?

         21  Are we making progress? Is it getting worse, or what

         22  do you believe?

         23                 MR. GRIFFIN: Well, I've seen more

         24  police presence, I've seen more families involved,

         25  I've seen more citizens involved. I think that
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          2  everyone is making a concerted effort, and on any

          3  given day, you can walk down, walk up, depends on

          4  which way you're going, towards Jamaica High School

          5  and Thomas Edison High School and see a police

          6  presence. You also see individuals involved in drug

          7  treatment programs and police are involved, and the

          8  major bus terminal, which is Jamaica, you know,

          9  right across the street from the public library,

         10  where you see police there and it's not like it was

         11  before three years ago. I mean, much has changed.

         12  I've seen the progress. But I've also, as you know,

         13  seen the progress across Queens, because I've worked

         14  in Queens for over 30 years. So, I've seen Astoria

         15  change, I've seen Woodside change, I've seen

         16  different situations in how things were handled, but

         17  it's action right away. It's not let's sit down;

         18  let's take action, so I think that's a good thing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         20                 I think, Mr. Wingate, your statement

         21  they're all capable of error and capable of change

         22  is probably the most profound thing we have heard

         23  today. So, again, let me thank you on behalf of

         24  everyone who is here for waiting, for giving us your

         25  expertise, and letting us know what you've lived
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          2  through and giving us ways that we can continue to

          3  help you and this entire City fight the scourge of

          4  gang violence which we have been fighting for some

          5  time now.

          6                 So, thank you, both, and we look

          7  forward to working with you and seeing you again in

          8  the future.

          9                 MR. WINGATE: Thank you very much.

         10                 MR. GRIFFIN: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: This hearing is

         12  now adjourned.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 12:50 p.m.)
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